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CONTENTSOUR IMPACT
6,815 

boaters 
rescued

 
A safety net 
for 284,000 

 

Marine Rescue Cottage Point member Bernard 
Utteridge is one of the 3,005 MRNSW volunteers 

who save lives on the water. Photo: Brad Whittaker
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TEAMWORK & COURAGE 

Teamwork, training - and no small measure of courage when 
conditions are bad - are vital to our success. Port Kembla 30 
navigates a trough offshore. Photo: Brad Whittaker.
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OUR YEAR

261,148 RADIO CALLS

10 NEW RESCUE 
VESSELS

$3 MILLION RAISED 

100% COMMITMENT 
TO SERVING OUR 
COMMUNITY

358 AWARDS & MEDALS

3,005 EXTRAORDINARY 
VOLUNTEERS 

2,732 RESCUE 
MISSIONS

6,815 BOATERS HOME 
SAFELY 

74,930 BOATS 
LOGGED ON
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CHAIR’S REPORT

It is a pleasure to present this Annual Report at the end of a momentous year for Marine 
Rescue NSW and on the cusp of our 10th anniversary and a new period of unparalleled 
development and service to the commmunity of NSW.

The State Government’s commitment of record funding to our organisation 
over the coming four financial years sets our course for a second decade 

of achievement that is likely to outstrip the growth and capability we have 
established since Marine Rescue NSW was created on July 1, 2009. 

This financial commitment is exceeded only by our determination to wring 
every possible benefit from the opportunities it creates; to ensure we achieve 
maximum efficiency and value for money in the delivery of new assets, 
facilities and support to our volunteers and services to the boating community. 

On behalf of the Board, I thank NSW Premier Gladys Berejiklian and former 
Emergency Services Minister Troy Grant for their generosity and confidence in 
our organisation and especially our volunteers. 

The Board looks forward to working with new Minister David Elliott and our  
management and members as we embark on this exciting new phase. 

Our volunteers can be confident their voices will be heard in the planning 
and delivery of the ambitious schedule of capital works and services ahead.

While the Directors are charged with the reponsibility for providing strategic 
oversight and guidance for the organisation, we do not act in isolation. Our 
processes ensure that input to the Board’s deliberations comes from across 
the organisation. The Directors not only have the benefit of the professional 
advice of our staff but also of the lived experience and knowledge of our 
volunteers. We continue to meet regularly with members in all regions - this 
year at the Alpine Lakes, Ballina, Newcastle, Lake Macquarie, Merimbula, 
Woolgoolga, Forster-Tuncurry and Crowdy Harrington units - to ensure that 
we are aware of matters of interest, ideas and contributions at the local 
level. These gatherings are always fruitful, enabling us to groundtruth our 
own instincts and experience as serving members and adding depth to our 
decision-making.

The annual Board elections are another key avenue for our members to 
exercise their interest in the organisation’s leadership and I again encourage 
all eligible members to vote in our democratic process later in the year.

The introduction of online voting in the 2018 elections was the latest step 
in streamlining and modernising our governance arrangements, proving both 
financially and environmentally advantageous. 

Those elections resulted in Ken Edwards joining the Board as the new 
Greater Sydney Regional Director and a former incumbent in that role, 
Bob Wilson, returning to the table for a new tenure as a General Director. 
Providing a welcome continuity of corporate knowledge and experience, 
Illawarra Regional Director Keven Marshall and Monaro Regional Director 
Glenn Felkin were returned unopposed. I thank all our Directors for the rigour 
and constructive attitude they bring to the Board’s deliberations and for their 
confidence in again returning me as the Chair of the Board.

The loss of Northern Rivers Regional Director Bill Wardrobe half-way 
through his term, however, was a sad marker of the year for the Board, the 
Evans Head unit and all who knew Bill. His thoughtful and good natured 
contribution to our organisation is missed at every level.

The governance of an organisation growing as rapidly as Marine Rescue 

JAMES GLISSAN AM, ESM, QC

Chair of MRNSW Board
General Director

Chair
James Glissan AM, ESM, QC

WELCOME

NSW is not static; it needs to evolve and adapt in line with changing 
circumstances and continual improvement in capability and service delivery. 
One of the Board’s most fundamental roles is to ensure our governance 
arrangements remain relevant to our needs and meet our corporate and 
regulatory responsibilities. Following advice from the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors, we have formed a working group to review the Marine 
Rescue NSW Constitution to ensure this is the case. This working group will 
report next financial year.

The Board acknowledges Commissioner Stacey Tannos, Deputy 
Commissioner Dean Storey, new Chief Financial Officer Todd Andrews and 
all our staff for their tireless endeavours for our organisation and volunteers. 
Commissioner Tannos is to be particularly congratulated for his perseverance 
and success in building a strong business case to secure the announcement 
of our additional State funding this year. 

It is important to note that our leadership is not concentrated at the top. 
Our Unit Commanders, Deputy Unit Commanders and unit executives also 
carry an additional load at the forefront of their units and we are grateful for 
their tremendous commitment of time and effort.

Of course, Marine Rescue NSW could not exist without our volunteers, who 
so ably fulfill our mission to save lives on the water, serving our community 
with skill and distinction. The Board thanks each of them for their contribution. 
We look forward to continuing our journey together as we embark upon the 
second, bright decade of Marine Rescue NSW.
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STACEY TANNOS ESM

Commissioner
Chief Executive Officer
Chair, State Rescue Board

Commissioner
Stacey Tannos ESM

Marine Rescue NSW has set a new high-water mark for achievement and 
acknowledgement in 2018-19.

services sector, having previously held the portfolio from 2015 to 2017. 
We also are grateful to the members of the boating community for their 

financial contribution to our service through the levy on recreational boat 
licences and registrations. Many are also members of our units’ Radio Clubs, 
contributing to their local operations not only financially but also through their 
enhanced safety consciousness. 

The MRNSW Board provides strong and sure strategic leadership to the 
organisation and is dedicated to the development of the organisation and 
wellbeing of our members. I thank the Directors for their support for the 
management and staff in our work. Our service is built on the efforts of our 
truly inspirational volunteer workforce and our staff working together as a 
cohesive team. No matter their role, their effort and goodwill are the key to 
our success. 

Our volunteers’ commitment to serving the community and the strength of 
the camaraderie in our ranks is compelling and worthy of acclaim. There are 
none finer and I thank them for another year of service. But they do not serve 
alone. They meet the demands of their calling with the steadfast support of 
their families and employers and I also acknowledge the importance of these 
members of our extended family.

 As we approach the 10th anniversary of the establishment of Marine 
Rescue NSW on July 1, we look forward not with complacency but with 
confidence to a powerful and sustainable future of service as we fulfil our 
mission to save lives on the water.

COMMISSIONER’S REPORT

In January, NSW Premier Gladys Berejiklian and then Emergency Services 
Minister Troy Grant recognised the contribution of our volunteers to the NSW 

community by announcing the State Government would invest an additional 
$37.6 million in our organisation over the coming four financial years.

This is the most significant development in the organisation’s lifespan,  
more than doubling our funding to over $17 million a year. The benefit of 
this investment will stretch far beyond the next four years to a stronger, 
more secure future as we continue to improve our capability and expand 
our services to the boating public. The ability to invest additional capital 
in vessels, the marine radio network and our built infrastructure will be 
invaluable in supporting our volunteers in their work to save lives on the 
water.

NSW boaters know they can rely on our professionally equipped and 
trained volunteers to come to their rescue when they find themselves in 
trouble on our waterways. This year, our volunteers launched 2,732 rescue 
missions, including 824 in response to life-endangering emergencies, 
returning 6,815 boaters safely home to their families and friends.

Unfortunately, this is not always the case. Our crews responded respectfully 
and compassionately to a number of fatalities during the year, particularly 
over the summer, which was again marked by a series of tragedies.

Clear and accurate communications are critical to the success of our 
operations on the water. Throughout the year, our radio officers have logged 
more than 260,000 radio calls, providing operational support to their 
colleagues and reassurance to those in need of help. The upward trend in 
the number of vessels Logging On continued, particularly in the uptake of the 
MarineRescue App, which boaters now use for 22 per cent of all Log Ons.

We have continued to set the standard in fleet development and quality. 
Ten new vessels entered service this year, taking the total of new and 
refurbished rescue vessels delivered under the Fleet Modernisation Program 
to 91, worth more than $21 million. 

Likewise, our professional training is the sector benchmark, equipping 
our personnel with the specific skills and knowledge required for their roles. 
I thank our volunteers for the time and work they have put in - above and 
beyond their operational duties - to enhance their qualifications. In recognition 
of the workload shouldered by our unit executives, a new leadership program 
was introduced this year to support them in carrying out the range of 
responsibilities inherent in their roles. 

Saving lives is a collaborative undertaking and we work in close partnership 
with our emergency service colleagues, particularly the NSW Police Force 
Marine Area Command, Surf Life Saving, NSW Maritime, NSW Ambulance and 
the NSW Rural Fire Service. I thank all their personnel for their cooperation 
and support. 

It is important that we, as an organisation, thank the Premier and former 
Minister Grant for the Government’s game-changing investment of additional 
funding, which is a vote of confidence in our service and ability. Mr Grant 
was a forceful advocate for MRNSW and its volunteers. The new Police and 
Emergency Services Minister David Elliott is well known to the emergency 
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WHAT WE DO

OUR COMMITMENT IN ACTION

WE SAVE LIVES ON THE WATER
This is our mission, 24 hours a day, every day. The boating 
community can be confident that when they call for help, 
a professionally trained and equipped crew will be quickly 
under way. This year, we launched 2,732 rescue missions, 
returning 6,815 boaters safely to shore. 

WE ARE PROUD OF OUR PEOPLE
Our 3,005 inspirational volunteers are the heartbeat of our 
service. These trusted and reassuring emergency services 
personnel serve with skill and determination, no matter how 
rough the seas or dark the radio watch. They share their 
commitment with our Board and staff.

WE SERVE OUR COMMUNITY
Whether we are responding to an emergency, monitoring 
the airwaves or keeping watch over the last competitor to 
make landfall, we stand ready to serve. We are grateful for 
the generous support and recognition we receive in return 
from the boating public and the wider community. 

WE PUT SAFETY FIRST 
Our fundamental commitment is to the safety of our 
volunteers and the boating community. The most effective 
safety measures are the simplest: boaters should always wear 
a lifejacket on board, Log On with Marine Rescue NSW, check 
the conditions and know how to call for help in an emergency.

WE WORK AS ONE
Saving lives is a shared mission. We work in a seamless 
partnership with our colleagues across the emergency 
services, training and operating side by side in an effort to 
always achieve the best outcome for those in trouble on and 
around the water.

WE LEAD
We are recognised leaders in the national marine rescue 
sector. Our rescue vessels, training, equipment and 
technology set professional benchmarks. We have now 
delivered 91 boats and our online vessel tracking system and 
MarineRescue App remain groundbreaking technological aids.



MARINE RESCUE NSW | ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 7

A major funding boost announced by the NSW 
Government in January sets Marine Rescue NSW on a 
path for a bright new future of enhanced capability to save 
lives on the water.

NSW Premier Gladys Berejiklian and then Emergency Services Minister Troy 
Grant announced an historic commitment of $37.6 million in additional 

funding for Marine Rescue NSW over four years starting from July 1, 2019.
The announcement, on January 27, was a landmark in the development of 

the organisation ahead of our 10-year anniversary on July 1.
The investment will more than double the MRNSW budget to more than 

2018-19 HIGHLIGHT

RECORD GOVERNMENT INVESTMENT

$17 million per annum, providing the ability to invest in essential new and 
upgraded resources, facilities and infrastructure.

The commitment is the culmination of many years of advocacy for a budget 
enhancement for our service based on our solid record of achievement, 
fiscal responsibility and accountability. A detailed business case built on solid 
research, cost-benefit analyses and forward projections, including the 2015 
Operational Communications Strategy and Fixed Asset Audit, formed the basis 
of the case for the new investment. 

The extra funding will be committed to 38 new rescue vessels, the 
establishment of a new Lord Howe Island unit, continued upgrading of 
the marine radio network and for the first time, a program to improve unit 
facilities such as radio bases, jetties and boat sheds.

“Community safety is our top priority and this major investment will deliver 
an extra layer of security and reassurance for anglers, divers and everybody 
who gets out on our amazing waterways,” Ms Berejiklian said.

Mr Grant paid tribute to the organisation’s volunteers: “Their service to 
the communities of NSW, the amount of lives they save, is extraordinary. 
This opportunity to fund them to an additional capacity is an important one 
because it goes directly to their ability to save lives.”

MRNSW has benefited from the generous ongoing financal support of the 
NSW Government and the boating community through a levy on recreational 
boating licences and registrations, this year totalling $8.98 million. The 
five-year Operational Funding Agreement setting out the terms of our funding 
delivery was due for signature in 2018-19 but will now be superceded by a 
new agreement capturing both our existing and new funding streams.

New Emergency Services Minister David Elliott, appointed after the March 
state election, made a visit to the MRNSW Headquarters at Cronulla for a 
situational briefing one of his first priorities.

NSW Premier Gladys Berejiklian and then Emergency Services Minister Troy Grant announce $37.6 million in additional MRNSW funding.

Commissioner Stacey Tannos, Emergency Services Minister David 
Elliott, Attorney General and Cronulla MP Mark Speakman and 
Deputy Commissioner Dean Storey at MRNSW Headquarters.
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OPERATIONS

Point Danger 30 heads for a rendezvous with a 
trawler that spotted overdue fisherman Danny 
Daley’s upturned tinnie floating 4nm offshore 
north of Brunswick Heads. Photo: Todd Stoll.
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SAVING LIVES ON THE WATER

A welcome reduction in the number of emergencies on 
the water this year underlines our strong commitment to 
working with the boating community to improve safety on 
our waterways.

Accelerated rescue vessel delivery, the roll-out of new technology and 
resourcing and a continuing focus on preparedness, safety and skills 

development have strengthened operational capability across the organisation 
throughout 2018-19.

Reduced emergency response times as a result of streamlined activation 
procedures and strategically pre-positioned assets have ensured crews are 
rapidly on the scene to assist boaters in trouble.

Our world-class service and capability can only be delivered with the 
incredible commitment of our members, who this year recorded a total of 
612,856 volunteer hours on operational duty on the air and on the water. 

RESCUE MISSIONS 
A decreased number of emergencies and other incidents has seen our 
professional volunteers mount 2,732 rescue missions this year - a 2.5 per 
cent improvement over 2017-18 and eight per cent below the five-year 
average (2,973).

Boating safety was obviously a high priority for those enjoying our waters 
this year, with the vast majority of boaters acting responsibly, ensuring their 
vessels were maintained in good working order, heeding safety messages and 
returning home without incident. Nearly 284,000 people on board 74,930 
vessels Logged On with Marine Rescue NSW, giving them the added security 
of knowing a responsible emergency service was keeping watch over them 
while they were on the water.

Almost 7,000 people, however, returned safely to shore as a result of 
our volunteers’ life-saving rescue efforts. Thirty per cent - 824 - of this 
year’s missions were in response to life-endangering emergencies, down 
from 841 last year. These included searches for missing swimmers swept 
out to sea; a boater killed when his vessel capsized near Coffs Harbour; a 
trawler sinking off Point Perpendicular and another aground north of Tathra; 
a 40-foot motor cruiser at risk of sinking near Forster and six women thrown 
overboard when their outrigger canoe overturned on the hazardous Swansea 
bar. The remaining operations, while not immediately life-threatening, could 
have rapidly escalated due to a change in weather conditions or narrowing 
distances from hazards such as bars, rocks, cliffs or the surf zone.

A reduced emergency response workload enables volunteers to devote 
more time to patrolling, incident prevention and engaging with the boating 
community. 

This year’s outcomes validate our continuing whole-of-service focus on 
safety and our consistent messaging via diverse channels to encourage 
boaters to adopt responsible practices, wear lifejackets, Log On and Off, 
maintain awareness of sea and weather conditions, use VHF marine radio 
and ensure their vessel and equipment are in good operating condition. In the 
coming year we will continue our efforts to drive further improvement, helping 
boaters to stay safe while enjoying our State’s spectacular waterways.

OPERATIONS 2018-19

Life-endangering emergencies 824

Other rescues 1,908

Total Rescues 2,732

Persons On Board - emergencies 1,896

Persons On Board - other rescues 4,919

Total Persons On Board Rescued 6,815

Local Log Ons 49,524

Offshore Log Ons 8,919

MarineRescue App Log Ons 16,487

Total Vessels Logged On 74,930

Persons On Board Logged On vessels 283,799

Radio Transmissions Logged 261,148

RESCUE MISSIONS 2018-19

Emergencies 824 Other rescues 1,908
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MARINE RADIO COMMUNICATIONS 
Marine radio operators in Search and Rescue Coordination Centres and 
Marine Radio Bases this year continued their commitment to monitoring 
the airwaves to ensure that boaters in trouble received help - fast. These 
operators are an essential conduit for information critical to the success of 
an emergency operation, providing clear and precise information to support 
rescue crews and comfort to boaters in need. This year our radio personnel 
logged 261,148 radio transmissions, an average of more than 5,000 a week. 
As well as distress calls, these include non-emergency communications 
such as Logging On and Logging Off vessels, broadcasting Securite warning 
messages and weather conditions, performing radio checks to assure boaters 
their equipment is in good operating order and providing other information. 

Our radio bases monitor both VHF and 27MHz radio transmissions along 
the coastline. Boaters are encouraged to ensure their vessel is equipped with 
a VHF marine radio, which offers superior capability, clearer transmission and 
greater range than the outdated 27MHz technology. VHF Channel 16 is the 
national and international distress, safety and calling channel. New digital 
RediTALK communications equipment was this year installed in six additional 
radio bases and the infrastructure that provides the network backbone was 
improved through major projects on the North and Mid North Coasts and 
northern Sydney. Work to eliminate blackspots and improve reception on the 
Far South Coast will begin before the start of the 2019-20 boating season.

LOGGING ON & OFF  
Logging On with Marine Rescue NSW is a quick and simple safety precaution 
for boaters on NSW waterways. We provide the only vessel logging and 
tracking service in the State. This free service provides boaters with the 
peace of mind of knowing they are on the radar of a professional rescue 

organisation when they are on the water - one that will act to find them if 
they are not back safely to shore as expected. Boaters can Log On with 
Marine Rescue NSW units by marine radio, phone or the MarineRescue App, 
telling us their destination, how many people are on board and when they are 
planning to return, along with basic information about their vessel and their 
contact details.

This year, a total of 74,930 boats with 283,799 people on board Logged 
On and Off with Marine Rescue NSW units. The number of vessels Logging 
On has increased incrementally each year, up 6.7 per cent since 2014-15. 
We do not resile from our commitment to driving a significant increase in this 
figure. This rate of overall growth has been outstripped by the increased rate 
of boaters Logging On via the MarineRescue App, which was introduced in 
March 2015 and has grown by an average 19 per cent a year since its first 
full reporting year in 2015-16. This year, the App accounted for 22 per cent of 
all Log Ons, the largest share recorded to date. 

JOINT OPERATIONS & TRAINING  
Marine Rescue NSW operates as one of the network of emergency response 
agencies in this State, working collaboratively with our partner services 
including the NSW Police Force Marine Area Command, Surf Life Saving NSW 
and the helicopter rescue services.

This year we participated in numerous multi-agency search and rescue 
operations and continued to build our operational readiness and enhance our 
inter-operability and skills-sharing, both among our own crews and across 
the emergency services. Regional Search and Rescue Exercises and joint unit 
training operations built cooperation and tested procedural awareness and the 
roll-out of radios compatible to both MRNSW and Surf Life Saving boosted the 
ability of personnel to share information and coordinate operations.

Rescue vessels Cottage Point 31, Broken Bay 20 and Central Coast 30 responded to a Palm Beach ferry aground at Half Tide Rocks on 
March 9. The 30 passengers were transferred to shore before CP 31 and NSW Police vessel WP 42 towed the large vessel to deeper water.
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The high risk of hypothermia, even in summer, requires a rapid response 
to people overboard on the Alpine Lakes. 

Lifejackets are mandatory for boaters on the high country lakes.
Fisherman Colin Oatley was thrown from his moving tinnie into Lake 

Jindabyne in front of the Marine Rescue Alpine Lakes base on January 
21. Observing Mr Oatley go under, Unit Commander Les Threlfo quickly 
redeployed the crew of Alpine Lakes 21, training nearby, to respond 
urgently.

Mr Oatley said he had submerged a couple of times before managing to 
inflate his lifejacket and make his way back to shore with the aid of passers 
by.

“Thank God I was wearing a lifejacket,” he said. The crew of AL 21 
retrieved Mr Oatley’s tinnie.

‘Thank God I was 
wearing a lifejacket.’

On October 31, Danny Daley headed offshore in his tinnie to fish 
at Nine Mile Reef off Tweed Heads. Two smart decisions that day 

helped save his life: he Logged On with Marine Rescue Point Danger to 
say where he was was going and when he expected to return and he 
wore a lifejacket. 

“I ended up getting a fouled propeller on my anchor rope. I decided 
I’d go in and try to take it off. It was when I tried to climb back in the 
boat that she turned over and I ended up in the drink,” he said.

When Mr Daley hadn’t returned to shore as scheduled, Marine Rescue 
Point Danger quickly mounted a search and rescue mission. A passing 
trawler spotted Mr Daley’s upturned hull about seven hours later, 5nm 
offshore and 4nm north of Brunswick Heads. He was taken on board the 
trawler and transferred to Point Danger 30 to return to Tweed.

“I appreciate very much what the boys did and that’s why you must 
always Log On,”  he said.

‘You must always Log On.’

In bad weather on Christmas Eve, the crew of Ulladulla 30 escorted a 
yacht skippered by a famous face into harbour for emergency repairs.

Australian jazz star James Morrison praised the assistance of Unit 
Commander David Hall, Deputy Unit Commander Gabrielle Boermans 
and the other members who came to his assistance.

“Our voyage has stopped for now at Ulladulla, not without the help 
of Marine Rescue - David, Gabrielle and everyone else here at Ulladulla 
helping us find somewhere to secure the boat till we get it repaired 
and helping us find our way in last night when there was a squall,” the 
musician said in a Facebook video.

“It’s been great to have people like this to help us mariners get where 
we’re going.”

‘It’s been great to have 
people like this to help us.’

‘Thank God I was  
wearing a lifejacket.’
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WHO NEEDS TO BE RESCUED?
The rescue missions launched by Marine Rescue NSW crews throughout 
2018-19 point to several risk factors and common patterns that can 
potentially impact on the safety of boaters on NSW waterways and 
subsequently, rescue resourcing.

More than half the operations this year were in response to vessels with 
one or two people on board. In 967 instances, two boaters needed rescue 
and in another 445, just one person was on board. This is not unexpected, 
given the common boating activity of a fisher heading out alone or with a 
mate to see what’s biting. Boating alone carries heightened risk and solo 
boaters need to take extra safety precautions, particularly ensuring they are 
wearing a lifejacket and have an operating marine radio and safety gear.

One or two people would typically be out on a small boat, such as a tinnie 
or runabout, as reflected in the fact that boats up to six metres in length 
accounted for almost half the year’s rescues. As highlighted by Tweed Heads 
fisherman Danny Daley, whose tinnie tipped over as he tried to climb back 
on board from the water (see page 11), small boats like these are highly 
susceptible to capsizing or being rolled on hazardous coastal bars.

Bars can pose a significant risk to boaters, particularly on a running tide, 
for those unfamiliar with local conditions and for unstable boats such as 
tinnies. This has driven the strategic deployment of our resources, with first 
responder Rescue Water Craft delivered to units with bars known to be a 
potential danger, such as Nambucca, Tuross and Narooma. Manoeuvrable and 
quick to deploy, these craft can be rapidly on the scene of an emergency.

Illustrating the diversity of boating activities on NSW waterways, along 
with powered recreational boats (including runabouts, cruisers and tinnies) 
and various sailing vessels, recorded vessels assisted this year included 67 
jet skis, 24 kayaks, outrigger canoes and similar craft, 17 houseboats, 12 
trawlers, 12 ferries, four pontoons and an inflatable mattress. One on-board 
dog was rescued.

WHEN DO THEY NEED TO BE RESCUED?
The times when people find themselves in trouble on the water are directly 
tied to our operational resourcing. Our units increase their rostered time on 
the water, step up patrols and extend radio base opening hours across the 
boating season and particularly for the peak weeks of late December and 
January, as boaters take advantage of warmer weather, longer days and 
holidays. Unsurprisingly, December and January this year accounted for 30 
per cent of rescue operations and the boating season 74 per cent overall.

Again, not unexpectedly, most rescue missions were on weekends (58.5 
per cent). Operations on weekdays averaged 22 a week. While our vessel 
crews are routinely rostered on duty on weekends, the majority are on call 
from Monday to Friday. More than 5,000 volunteer hours were committed to 
weekday emergency call-out operations, in addition to rostered duty hours, 
averaging 121 hours of crew time per unit.

Incidents were concentrated during daylight hours from 8am to 6pm, with 
the highest numbers between 11am and noon (276), 1pm and 2pm (271) 
and 2pm-3pm (278), possibly likely times when a boater wants to head 
home after a few hours’ fishing but cannot get the engine started again, the 
battery is flat or dirty fuel has worked its way through the lines. While night 
operations were far fewer (296 from 6pm to 5am), response operations under 
darkness are inevitably more challenging and potentially hazardous for rescue 
crews, a reality that saw units step up night training throughout 2018-19. 

FRONTLINE VOLUNTEER COMMITMENT:
612,856 HOURS

VOLUNTEER COMMITMENT 2018-19

Communications Hours

Search & Rescue Coordination Centres  182,500

Marine Radio Bases 52,440

Total  234,940

VOLUNTEER COMMITMENT 2018-19

Rescue vessel operations Hours

Rostered duty hours 372,600

Weekday emergency call-outs 5,316

Total  377,916

Radio operator Kelly Edwards keeps watch at MR Eden.

Lake Macquarie 13 crosses the hazardous Swansea bar.
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OPERATIONS 

SIZE OF BOATS RESCUED 

Up to 6 metres 45%

6-8 metres 18.7%

8-10 metres 10.6%

10-15 metres 10.7%

15+ metres 0.5%

Unspecified/not known 14.5%

NUMBER OF PEOPLE ON BOARD RESCUED

0 People On Board 3.5%

1 Person On Board 16.5%

2 People On Board 35.5%

3 People On Board 15%

4 People On Board 10%

5-10 People On Board 10.5%

Other/unspecified 9%

TIMES RESCUE MISSIONS ARE LAUNCHED

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

23.00-23.59
22.00-22.59
21.00-21.59
20.00-20.59
19.00-29.59
18.00-18.59
17.00-17.59
16.00-16.59
15.00-15.59
14.00-14.59
13.00-13.59
12.00-12.59
11.00-11.59
10.00-10.59

9.00-9.59
8.00-8.59
7.00-7.59
6.00-6.59
5.00-5.59
4.00-4.59
3.00-3.59
2.00-2.59
1.00-1.59
0.00-0.59

DAYS BOATERS ARE RESCUED 

Sunday 887

Monday 233

Tuesday 221

Wednesday 205

Thursday 214

Friday 261

Saturday 711
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OPERATIONS 2018-19

Total July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb March April May June

Life-threatening emergencies 824 59 54 55 45 57 89 117 61 80 111 49 47

Other rescues 1,908 81 90 105 131 143 292 315 181 175 215 77 103

Total rescues 2,732 140 144 160 176 200 381 432 242 255 326 126 150

Log Ons – local 49,524 4,593 3,101 2,923 2,955 3,306 4,222 6,592 3,736 5,074 5,939 4,057 3,026

Log Ons – offshore 8,919 534 366 582 691 733 968 1,171 590 786 1,185 765 548

Log Ons - MarineRescue App 16,487 1,328 729 865 887 955 1,503 2,357 1,314 1,649 2,360 1.384 1,156

Total Log Ons 74,930 6,455 4,196 4,370 4,533 4,994 6,693 10,120 5,640 7,509 9,484 6,206 4,730

Radio calls 261,148 24,587 17,333 17,126 17,311 18,432 23,698 31,275 19,320 24,706 29,025 20,978 17,357

OPERATIONS

1. Following three years of increasing rescue activity, the number 
of rescue missions launched by MRNSW crews has trended 
downwards over the past two years. A total of 2,732 missions 
was launched in 2018-19, a 16% fall from the five-year peak of 
3,257 in 2016-17. Source: Seahawk.

Total rescues Life-endangering emergencies Other rescues

1. RESCUE MISSIONS: FIVE-YEAR TREND
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2. The number of vessels Logging On with MRNSW has risen 
incrementally each year, up 6.7% from 70,243 in 2014-15 to 
74,930 this year. This rate of overall growth has been outstripped 
by the increased rate of boaters Logging On via the MarineRescue 
App (introduced in March 2015) which has grown by an average 
19% a year since 2015-16. Source: Seahawk.

2. VESSELS LOGGING ON: FIVE-YEAR TREND

Log On (Total) (*App launched March 2015)Log On (App)
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3. The decreasing number of radio transmissions received and 
made by MRNSW over five years reflects increasing efficiency, 
more boaters Logging On via the App, improved recording and 
increased safety over the past two years. Source: Seahawk.

3. RADIO TRANSMISSIONS: FIVE-YEAR TREND
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ON THE SCENE

Marine Rescue Lake Macquarie and Port Stephens 
volunteers pull Aaron Laws aboard after he leapt into 
the water to save his 18-month-old son Zachary, who 
fell from a jetty. Photo: Brendan Trembath.
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OPERATIONS 

The 2018-19 boating season ran a full seven months from the October 1 
Labour Day holiday, with the concurrence of Easter and Anzac Day within 

the same week seeing a late surge in boating activity up to Sunday, April 28. 
A total of 2,424 more vessels Logged On this April than the previous year, 
with an increase of 57 rescues (21 per cent) recorded. 

In all, 60 fewer rescue missions were launched over the seven-month 
season, including 22 fewer in response to life-endangering emergencies, 
reflecting the overall improvement in boating safety.

The peak summer season was again marred by drownings on our coastline 
and other waterways. Surf Life Saving NSW reports that NSW recorded a 22 
per cent spike in coastal drowning deaths over the 2018-19 year with 44 
people tragically drowning along the State’s coastline. The largest number of 
people drowned while swimming (34 per cent) and the second highest figures 
were attributed to rockfishing accidents (18 per cent).

Crews from Marine Rescue Ballina, Evans Head, Iluka Yamba, Wooli, 
Woolgoolga, Coffs Harbour, Port Macquarie and Camden Haven joined major 
coordinated operations searching for swimmers lost from beaches on the 
Northern Rivers and Mid North Coast between December and February. 

Two men drowned and another was reported missing in the surf at Moonee 
Beach on the Coffs Coast on December 17. MR Port Macquarie later assisted 
in the recovery of the missing man’s body 76nm south. A 27-year-old man 
disappeared in the surf at Woolgoolga Beach on February 7 and a volunteer 
life saver at Ballina’s Lighthouse Beach on February 16. A large-scale land 
and sea search was launched for two overseas backpackers missing from 
Port Macquarie on February 18.

Earlier, Coffs 30 was deployed when a boat overturned at Sapphire Beach 
on November 9, killing the skipper. 

Two jet ski riders also were killed in an incident on the Hawkesbury River 
at Wilberforce on February 17. Marine Rescue Hawkesbury responded when 
one of the men could not be located. His body was recovered two days later. 

Although concentrated in the peak of the summer season, these were not 
the only tragedies throughout the year. Our people responded professionally 
and compassionately on each occasion. 

Our summer presence was again extended, with units increasing their 
visibility on the water. Seven day patrols in noted high-traffic regions such 
as Sydney Harbour in late December and early January ensured crews could 
be quickly on the scene of incidents, including 102 on Christmas and Boxing 
Days, New Year’s Eve and New Year’s Day alone. Units again supported 
the major events on the harbour, enforcing exclusion zones and providing 
logistical support and rescue services for the start of the Sydney to Hobart 
Yacht Race, New Year’s Eve fireworks, Australia Day festivities and the 
inagural Sydney SailGP catamaran event. Units outside the capital likewise 
supported events including Christmas carols, local fireworks, Australia Day 
events and ocean swims. 

Units also extended their marine radio monitoring over the peak of the 
season, complementing the 24/7 coverage provided year-round by the 
network of Search and Rescue Coordination Centres along the coastline and 
the Terrey Hills Operations Centre. In all, radio operators handled 54,973  
radio calls over December and January, a third of the 163,767 transmissions 
logged throughout the boating season. 

Marine Rescue Eden again acted as a coordination centre for radio 
communications for the Sydney to Hobart race, operating around the clock 
to provide a safety watch over competitors heading down the coastline. 
Personnel from the race organiser, the Cruising Yacht Club of Australia, 
operated from the unit’s radio base to provide radio skeds for the fleet. 

Regional Operations Managers and senior volunteers were rostered on duty 
at the NSW Police Force Marine Area Command base in Sydney for extended 
periods to improve tasking efficiency and operational awareness.

The season drew to a close with another 108 incidents over Easter and 
Anzac Day.

BOATING SEASON 2018-19

Marine Rescue NSW crews launched 
813 rescue missions during the peak 
summer holiday season of December 
and January, when the boating 
community heads on to the water. 
These were the busiest two months 
of the year. Over the seven months of 
the boating season, from October 1 
until the end of April, crews performed 
a total of 2,012 rescue operations, 
ending with a spike of 326 missions 
in April. Ninety-two boaters found 
themselves in trouble over Easter and 
another 16 on Anzac Day. 
Source: Seahawk.

30%
of all rescues in 
peak summer 

holidays

74%
of all rescues 

in boating 
season

Marine Rescue Ulladulla crew member Frank Ward on the deck of Ulladulla 30. Photo: Brad Whittaker.
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A Mayday call to the Marine Rescue Port Macquarie radio base in the 
pitch dark of night was the catalyst for a challenging search and rescue 

operation that proved a forceful demonstration of volunteer courage, skill and 
teamwork.

Three men sustained a number of serious injuries, including broken bones, 
severe lacerations, punctured lungs and a spinal injury, when their 10 metre 
cruiser struck a submerged object offshore from the Mid North Coast in the 
early hours of April 14, 2019. None had been wearing a lifejacket.

The MR Port Macquarie radio base received a Mayday call from the cruiser 
at 1.07am but the location given by the caller - later found to have a broken 
jaw - was difficult to determine. 

The unit’s rescue vessel Port Macquarie 30 rapidly began searching 
under darkness as the watch officers on duty in the Town Beach radio base 
persisted in their attempts to gain accurate coordinates and Unit Commander 
Greg Davies liaised with the NSW Police Force Marine Area Command to 
coordinate the response.

“A call out like this one goes to show our repetitious training works and 
that when we are called to an emergency our volunteers do their job without 
fault,” UC Davies said.

PM 30 spent nearly an hour searching between Port Macquarie and 
Crescent Head until the fishermen were able to deploy their Emergency 
Position Indicating Radio Beacon and the crew located the damaged cruiser 
with the aid of the Westpac Rescue Helicopter, just south of Crescent Head. 

When PM 30 arrived on scene, Leading Crew members Bill Richardson and 

Chris Condon bravely boarded the holed vessel to provide emergency first aid 
to the three people on board. As the cruiser began sinking, without regard for 
their own safety, the pair ensured all three injured men escaped, painstakingly 
extricating a patient with a spinal injury from below deck, where he had been 
trapped among debris, by using the rising water in the cabin to float him out 
into the sea.

All five men were swiftly retrieved by the crew of PM 30 and transported to 
shore, rendezvousing en route with PM 20 with a medical crew on board.

The PM 30 crew members who took part in the operation were Reg 
McGlashan, Chris Condon, Bill Richardson, Yolanda Bosschieter and Tony 
Hallett, along with the PM 20 crew, Rob Breskal and Owen Coulls. Deputy 
Unit Commander Graham Gibbs and Gary White were the watch officers 
on duty, with Unit Commander Greg Davies and Mid North Coast Regional 
Operations Manager Randall Gawne providing coordination support.

Commissioner Stacey Tannos said the volunteers’ courage and 
determination throughout the six-hour mission had without doubt ensured 
three lives were saved.

“These 10 volunteers deserve recognition and praise for their commitment 
to our mission of saving lives on the water, working together as one to rescue 
the stricken boaters,” he said.

The volunteers were nominated for MRNSW, national and international 
awards due to be announced in the new financial year.

COURAGEOUS VOLUNTEERS SAVE THREE LIVES

Marine Rescue Port Macquarie volunteers return three seriously 
injured men to shore for medical treatment. 

Port Macquarie 30 Crew Member Yolanda Bosschieter provides first 
aid assistance to one of the rescued boaters. 

‘The volunteers’ courage and determination 
without doubt ensured three lives were saved.’
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Accredited Marine Rescue Units 

Search & Rescue Coordination Centres (with vessels)

Point Danger
PD 30, 11.5m Naiad
PD 20, 7.5m Naiad 

Ballina
BA 30, 10m Naiad

Iluka Yamba 
IY 30, 11.5m Steber
IY 20, 5.5m Naiad

Coffs Harbour
CO 30, 9.5m Naiad

Port Macquarie
PM 30, 11.5m Steber
PM 20, 6.25m Cobia
PM 10 & PM 11, RWC

Forster-Tuncurry
FO 30, 11.5m Steber
FO 20, 6.8m Naiad

Port Stephens
PS 31, 11.5m Steber
PS 30, 8.5m Gemini

Lake Macquarie
LM 30, 10m Naiad
LM 20, 7.8m Sailfish
LM 13, RWC

Botany Port Hacking
BY 30, 8.5m Kevlacat
PH 30, 8.5m Kevlacat

Port Kembla 
PK 30, 8.5m Kevlacat
PK 20, 6.25m Cobia

Shoalhaven
SA 30, 11.5m Steber
SA 20, 7.5m Ocean Cylinder

Ulladulla
UL 30, 11.5m Steber
UL 20, 7.5m Ocean Cylinder
UL 10, 4.2m Milpro

Batemans Bay
BM 30, 11.5m Steber
BM 20, 7.5m Ocean Cylinder
BM 21, 6.2m Cobia

Narooma
NA 30, 10m Naiad
NA 11 & NA 12, RWC

Search & Rescue Coordination Centres (radio only) 

Terrey Hills Eden

Marine Rescue Radio Bases (with vessels) 

Brunswick
BR 30, 9.5m Naiad

Evans Head
EH 30, 8.5m Kevlacat

Wooli
WI 30, 9.5m Naiad

Woolgoolga
WO 30, 10.85m Ellis Jet

Trial Bay
TB 30, 10m Naiad
TB 11 & TB 12, RWC

Camden Haven 
CH 30, 10m Naiad
CH 10, 4.2m Milpro

Crowdy Harrington
CB 30, 9.5m Naiad
CB 20, 6.8m Naiad 

Central Coast
CC 30, 10m Naiad
CC 21, 7.5m Naiad
CC 22, 6.8m Ocean Cylinder
CC 11, RWC

Lemon Tree Passage
LT 30, 8.5m Gemini

Newcastle
NC 30, 8m Kevlacat

Norah Head
NR 20, 6.8m Ocean Cylinder

Tuggerah Lakes
TL 21, 6.25m Cobia
TL 20, 6.25m Cobia

Hawkesbury
HW 21, 8m Broadbill Cat
HW 22, 7.5m Ocean Cylinder

Jervis Bay
JB 40, 13.2m Steber
JB 20, 7.5m Ocean Cylinder

Kioloa
KL 20, 6.2m Cobia

Sussex Inlet
SI 10, 6.2m Stabicraft
X 22, 6m Ocean Cylinder

Bermagui
BG 30, 11.5m Steber

Merimbula
MB 30, 9.6m Naiad

Marine Rescue Units (vessel only) 

Nambucca
NH 20, 6.8m Naiad
NH 11 & X 10, RWC

Broken Bay
BB 30, 8.4m Steber
BB 20, 6.5m Gemini

Cottage Point
CP 30, 11.5m Sailfish
CP 31, 9m Sailfish 

Middle Harbour
MH 30, 11.5m Steber
MH 20, 6.8m Naiad

Port Jackson
PJ 30, 8.5m Kevlacat
PJ 20, 7.5m Naiad

Shellharbour
SH 30, 10m Naiad

Tuross
TU 20, 6.8m Naiad
TU 12, 4.8m Cobia
X 21, 5.5m Naiad
TU 13, RWC

Alpine Lakes 
AL 21, 6.8m Ocean Cylinder
AL 20, 7m Sailfish

Moama
MO 20, 6.8m Ocean Cylinder
MO 10, 4.6m Ocean Cylinder

Marine Rescue Radio Base (radio only)

Cape Byron

OPERATIONS
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REGIONS

Northern Rivers
7 units, 401 volunteers

Mid North Coast
8 units, 550 volunteers

Hunter/Central Coast
7 units, 659 volunteers

Greater Sydney
7 units, 591 volunteers

Illawarra
7 units, 437 volunteers

Monaro
8 units, 367 volunteers

Marine Rescue Botany Port Hacking’s 
Tomek Zamencki, on board Port Hacking 30, 
prepares a vessel to be towed to safety.  
Photo: Brad Whittaker.
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REGIONS

+ 527 (6 Local, 481 Offshore & 40 App) Seahawk Log Ons by Seaway Tower, 
Southport, for boaters travelling from Queensland waters south to New South Wales.

Mid North Coast

Hunter/Central Coast

Greater Sydney

TOTAL

Illawarra 

Monaro

Northern Rivers

Emergencies 151

Other rescues 110

Total 261

Persons on Board 540

Local Log Ons 11,549

Offshore Log Ons 1,453

App Log Ons  2,327

Total Log Ons 15,329Emergencies 224

Other rescues 652

Total 876

Persons on Board 2,144

Local Log Ons 6,749

Offshore Log Ons 2,112

App Log Ons 2,733

Total Log Ons 11,594 Emergencies 93

Other rescues 825

Total 918

Persons on Board 2,658

Local Log Ons 1,922

Offshore Log Ons 2,901

App Log Ons 3,631

Total Log Ons 8,454

Emergencies 824

Other rescues 1,908

Total 2,732

Persons on Board 6,815

Local Log Ons  49,524

Offshore Log Ons 8,919

App Log Ons  16,487

Total Log Ons 74,930

Emergencies 142

Other rescues 156

Total 298

Persons on Board 676

Local Log Ons 9,391

Offshore Log Ons 515

App  Log Ons 2,493

Total Log Ons 12,399

Emergencies 100

Other rescues  61

Total 161

Persons on Board 343

Local Log Ons 8,591

Offshore Log Ons 607

App Log Ons 2,387

Total Log Ons 11,585

Emergencies 114

Other rescues 104

Total 218

Persons on Board 454

Local Log Ons 11,316

Offshore Log Ons 850

App Log Ons 2,876

Total Log Ons 15,042
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LOG ONS BY REGION
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PEOPLE RESCUED IN EACH REGIONREGIONAL RESCUE WORKLOAD 2018-19 

Northern Rivers 8%

Mid North Coast 9.5%
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NORTHERN RIVERS 

UNITS: Point Danger, Brunswick, Cape Byron, Ballina, Evans Head, Iluka 
Yamba and Wooli. 
MISSIONS: 218 rescues, including 114 emergency responses and 104 
other rescues. This represented eight per cent of all rescues for the year.
NEW & UPGRADED ASSETS:
• Iluka Yamba 20, 5.45m Ocean Cylinder, $166,000. Delivered in February.
•  Brunswick 30 major refit completed: new sponsons, FLIR thermal imaging 

camera and remote controlled spotlight, $60,000.
• Wooli 30 refurbishment: new electronics, seats and sponsons, $85,000.
• Cape Byron: radio base refurbishment and refit.
• Evans Head: radio base refurbishment, new laptops and iPads.
• Iluka Yamba: installation of digital marine radio equipment in radio base.
ON THE WATER:
A fisherman was fortunate to survive when his runabout capsized while he 
was fishing offshore on October 31. A major search and rescue operation was 
launched, with the man found on the hull of his upturned boat 4nm north of 
Brunswick Heads by a passing trawler and transferred to Point Danger 30.

An 83-year-old man was transported to hospital after a 6m centre console 
boat overturned 2.5nm south of Evans Head on August 18, throwing three 
men into the water in the dark. Crews from MR Evans Head, Ballina and 
Iluka Yamba were immediately activated, with the Westpac Rescue Life Saver 
helicopter locating the vessel and illuminating the scene for Evans 30 to 
retrieve the three boaters and provide immediate first aid.

Crews from MR Ballina, Evans Head and Iluka Yamba joined a multi-agency 
search for a Surf Life Saving volunteer who failed to return from his morning 
swim at Ballina’s Lighthouse Beach on February 16. MR Ballina was used as 
the search coordination centre. 

The Northern Rivers Search and Rescue Exercise brought together marine 
rescue specialists from both NSW and Queensland on November 11. 

RESCUES BY UNIT

All 
rescues

Emergency
responses

Other 
rescues

Point Danger 93 35 58

Brunswick 15 12 3

Cape Byron 7 2 5

Ballina 32 21 11

Evans Head 15 13 2

Iluka Yamba 41 17 24

Wooli 15 14 1

Total 218 114 104

REGIONS

Northern Rivers

Marine Rescue Point Danger

Northern Rivers SAREX 

Ballina 30 and Evans 30
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UNITS: Woolgoolga, Coffs Harbour, Nambucca, Trial Bay, Port Macquarie, 
Camden Haven, Crowdy Harrington and Forster-Tuncurry.
MISSIONS: 261 rescues, including 151 emergency responses and 110 
other rescues. This represented 9.5 per cent of all rescues for the year.
NEW & UPGRADED ASSETS: 
• New $1.3 million MR Woolgoolga base at Arrawarra Headland.
• New MR Trial Bay training and storage facility.
• MR Camden Haven radio base extensions and refit.
•  Secure equipment storage at MR Nambucca, funded with a $10,000 State 

Government Community Building Partnership grant.
•  A solar power system and new unit vehicles for MR Crowdy Harrington, 

funded with $84,900 in two NSW Infrastructure Grants.
• Forster 20, 6.8m Ocean Cylinder, $273,000. Delivered in October.
• Crowdy 20, 6.8m Naiad, $273,000. Delivered in June.
• Port Macquarie 11, Sea-Doo Rescue Water Craft, $20,000. Delivered in 
January.
ON THE WATER:
Crews from five units joined three large-scale search operations for four 
missing swimmers swept out to sea over a tragic summer on the Mid North 
Coast. MR Port Macquarie, Woolgoolga, Coffs Harbour, Camden Haven and 
Wooli volunteers spent more than a week in total searching for a man lost 
from Woolgoolga Beach, another from Moonee Beach near Coffs Harbour and 
two backpackers missing from Port Macquarie. The crew of Coffs 30 was 
deployed when a boat overturned at Sapphire Beach on November 9, killing 
the skipper. Forster 30 responded to a Mayday call from a 40-foot motor 
cruiser at risk of sinking with two people on board a mile off Boomerang 
Beach south of Forster in an overnight operation on February 19 and 20. 

Members of MR Port Macquarie saved the lives of three men seriously 
injured when their motor cruiser struck a submerged object in the dark 
offshore from Crescent Head on April 14. Ten members have been nominated 
for MRNSW, national and international awards.

MID NORTH COAST 

RESCUES BY UNIT

All 
rescues

Emergency
responses

Other 
rescues

Woolgoolga 5 4 1

Coffs Harbour 63 45 18

Nambucca 9 6 3

Trial Bay 23 19 4

Port Macquarie 75 37 38

Camden Haven 11 7 4

Crowdy Harrington 17 14 3

Forster-Tuncurry 58 19 39

Total 261 151 110

Mid North Coast

Marine Rescue Crowdy Harrington

Marine Rescue Coffs Harbour

Marine Rescue Nambucca 
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HUNTER/CENTRAL COAST 

UNITS: Port Stephens, Lemon Tree Passage, Newcastle, Lake Macquarie, 
Norah Head, Tuggerah Lakes, Central Coast. 
MISSIONS: 876, including 224 emergency responses and 652 other 
rescues. This represented 32 per cent of all rescues.
NEW & UPGRADED ASSETS:
• Central Coast 30, 10m Naiad, $472,000, delivered in August.
• Central Coast 21, 7.5m Naiad, $312,000, delivered in December.
• Lake Macquarie 20, 7.8m Sailfish, $360,000, delivered in February.
• New $140,000 dock facility for MR Port Stephens.
•  MR Lake Macquarie secured a NSW Government Infrastructure Grant 

for $152,498 towards the cost of a new Swansea Heads radio base and 
sponsorship from logistics company Toll.

ON THE WATER:
MR Lake Macquarie proved the busiest MRNSW unit for the year, launching 
396 missions, including 42 in response to life-endangering emergencies. It 
was followed by MR Port Stephens, whose crews deployed on 214 missions, 
including 131 emergency operations.

MR Lake Macquarie Rescue Water Craft LM 13 illustrated the first 
responder capability of these assets by racing to assist six women thrown in 
the water from their overturned outrigger canoe on the Swansea bar in late 
December, along with Naiad, LM 30. Tuggerah Lakes 20 rescued six teenage 
boys on a poor collection of boats who were pushed by strong winds into the 
centre of Tuggerah Lake on November 10.

Demonstrating our contribution to emergency management, MR Lemon 
Tree Passage was placed on standby to evacuate trapped residents by water 
when gale force winds fanned a bushfire, cutting road access, in August. 

Crews continued to build their skills, taking part in a series of night 
operation, Rescue Water Craft and joint training exercises. During one night 
training exercise in late January, Port Stephens 31 was tasked to assist a 
heavy yacht that had run aground on a falling tide.

MR Tuggerah Lakes launched its first Coxswain training course.

RESCUES BY UNIT

All 
rescues

Emergency
responses

Other 
rescues

Port Stephens 214 131 83

Lemon Tree Passage 42 4 38

Newcastle 33 14 19

Lake Macquarie 396 42 354

Norah Head 5 4 1

Tuggerah Lakes 35 5 30

Central Coast 151 24 127

Total 876 224 652

REGIONS

Hunter/Central Coast

Marine Rescue Lake Macquarie

Port Stephens 31

Marine Rescue Central Coast & Tuggerah Lakes
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UNITS: Hawkesbury, Cottage Point, Broken Bay, Terrey Hills, Middle Harbour, 
Port Jackson, Botany Port Hacking.
MISSIONS: 918, including 93 emergency responses and 825 other 
rescues. This represented 33.5 per cent of all rescues.
NEW & UPGRADED ASSETS:
• Port Jackson 20, 7.5m Naiad, $340,000, delivered in December.
• Port Jackson 30, upgraded electronics suite to match new PJ 20.
• Broken Bay 20 repowered with a $28,000 NSW Government grant.
• New base for MR Port Jackson at Birkenhead Point Marina.
ON THE WATER:
The crew of Port Hacking 30 was activated early in the morning of September 
24 to assist police in a search for the skipper of a yacht that overturned in 
strong winds and rough seas off Boat Harbour. The missing man’s body was 
located near Wanda Beach. Two men were killed and another escaped injury 
in a jet ski incident at Wilberforce on the Hawkesbury River on February 17. 
Hawkesbury 21 and HW 22 joined other emergency services in the search for 
one of the men, whose body was located on February 19.

MR Terrey Hills recorded 13 Mayday calls among 869 radio transmissions 
over the peak summer season. Crews boosted their visibility and rescue 
readiness by stepping up their operations for the busiest week on the water in 
Sydney and its surrounds, with vessels on duty every day between Christmas 
and New Year. Crews again took part in the major Sydney Harbour summer 
events, patrolling exclusion zones and providing emergency support for events 
including the New Year’s Eve fireworks and new F50 catamaran SailGP.

Crews from Greater Sydney units joined forces in two regional Search and 
Rescue Exercises this year. More than 50 volunteers took part in a September 
exercise on the Hawkesbury River and Broken Bay. More than 100 MRNSW 
and other agency personnel  then attended another Sydney exercise in June. 
After a day at the Westpac Lifesaver Rescue helicopter base, poor offshore 
conditions saw crews carry out simulated rescue operations on sheltered 
waters on the second day of the exercise.

GREATER SYDNEY

RESCUES BY UNIT

All 
rescues

Emergency
responses

Other 
rescues

Hawkesbury 130 18 112

Broken Bay 124 9 115

Cottage Point 120 14 106

Terrey Hills 54 12 42

Middle Harbour 187 12 175

Port Jackson 119 1 118

Botany Port Hacking 184 27 157

Total 918 93 825

Greater Sydney

Marine Rescue Middle Harbour

Marine Rescue Broken Bay

Marine Rescue Port Jackson
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ILLAWARRA

UNITS: Port Kembla, Shellharbour, Shoalhaven, Jervis Bay, Sussex Inlet, 
Ulladulla, Kioloa.
MISSIONS: 298, including 142 emergency responses and 156 other 
rescues. This represented 11 per cent of all rescues.
NEW & UPGRADED ASSETS:
•  MR Port Kembla’s Hill 60 radio base was upgraded with the installation 

of digital radio technology, funded by a $70,000 grant from the IMB 
Community Foundation. 

•  Work began on a major project to repair and upgrade the deteriorated 
Hill 60 building and radio mast, with a State Government Port Kembla 
Community Investment Fund grant for $164,080.

ON THE WATER:
Three crew members who issued a Mayday when their trawler struck a 
submerged object and began sinking off Point Perpendicular were quickly 
saved when the crews of Jervis Bay 40 and the RAAF Hercules Trojan 26, 
who were on a joint training exercise nearby, raced to their aid on August 8. 
    Shoalhaven 30 was quickly on the scene when a 4.8m boat taking on 
water off Beecroft Head made a Pan Pan call on August 18, returning the 
boater to safety. A unit crew deployed booms to contain a pollution spill on the 
Crookhaven River when a trawler sank at the Greenwell Point jetty in October.

MR Jervis Bay crews responded to two serious emergencies in quick 
succession on Christmas Day but a report of an overturned boat off Kioloa 
that sparked a major operation on Christmas night was believed to have been 
a hoax call.

In a period of rapid renewal and training, the Kioloa unit rebuilt its capacity, 
with support from MR Ulladulla and a determined recruitment drive by Sussex 
Inlet bolstered its capability.

The Illawarra Regional Search and Rescue Exercise on October 14 helped 
refine skills and cooperation between MRNSW, the NSW Police Force Marine 
Area Command and Westpac Life Saver Rescue helicopter personnel ahead 
of the peak boating season. Fifty volunteers and eight vessels joined the 
exercise off Jervis Bay to ensure they were rescue-ready for summer.

RESCUES BY UNIT

All 
rescues

Emergency
 responses

Other 
rescues

Port Kembla 60 38 22

Shellharbour 14 5 9

Shoalhaven 45 24 21

Jervis Bay 87 18 69

Sussex Inlet 36 6 30

Ulladulla 48 43 5

Kioloa 8 8 0

Total 298 142 156

REGIONS

Illawarra

Marine Rescue Kioloa

Marine Rescue Shoalhaven

Marine Rescue Port Kembla
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UNITS: Batemans Bay, Tuross, Narooma, Bermagui, Merimbula, Eden, 
Alpine Lakes, Moama.
MISSIONS: 161, including 100 emergency responses and 61 other 
rescues. This represented six per cent of all rescues.
NEW & UPGRADED ASSETS:
• Tuross 12, 4.8m Naiad, $127,000, delivered in September.
• Moama 10, 4.6m Ocean Cylinder, $110,000, delivered in June.
•  Extensions to the MR Eden radio base to add search and rescue 

coordination facilities and upgraded access were funded through a 
$75,000 NSW Government Infrastructure Grant.

•  MR Narooma’s radio base was updated with the installation of digital 
radio equipment thanks to a $45,000 Infrastructure Grant and its garage 
refurbished with a $12,000 Community Building Partnership grant.

ON THE WATER:
Crews from MR Merimbula and Bermagui were deployed to two Mayday 
emergencies on the Far South Coast within a month when a large commercial 
trawler was grounded on rocks north of Tathra on July 7 and a disabled 
vessel was being pushed toward rocks south of Tathra on August 3.

With a high risk of hypothermia even in summer, a boater on the Alpine 
Lakes was fortunate to be wearing a lifejacket when he was tossed overboard 
on Lake Jindabyne on January 21. In a long night mission, Bermagui 30 
rescued three people on board a 42-foot yacht with engine failure 11.5nm 
south-east of Bermagui on May 9 and a crew from MR Batemans Bay 
retrieved a man whose vessel overturned at Corrigans Beach on May 20.

Assets were pre-deployed to reduce response times to emergencies on 
the hazardous Moruya bar. An AirBerth was installed near the mouth of the 
Moruya River to accommodate the new MR Tuross vessel to ensure crews 
were positioned for rapid deployment. Bermagui strengthened its cooperation 
with Bermagui Surf Life Saving, staging joint training and capability building 
exercises to enhance their response on isolated areas of the coastline. 

MONARO

Rescues by unit

All 
rescues

Emergency
responses

Other 
rescues

Batemans Bay 91 52 39

Tuross 3 1 2

Narooma 21 11 10

Bermagui 19 14 5

Merimbula 23 20 3

Eden 2 2 0

Alpine Lakes 1 0 1

Moama 1 0 1

Total 161 100 61

Monaro

Marine Rescue Bermagui

Marine Rescue Merimbula

Marine Rescue Moama



28 MARINE RESCUE NSW | ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019

PEOPLE & 
RESOURCES

Ballina 30 on a precision training exercise with 
the Westpac Lifesaver Rescue Helicopter on the 

Richmond River in February. Photo: John Murray.
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A WORLD CLASS FLEET

SEARCH & RESCUE VESSELS

In its first decade, Marine Rescue NSW has developed a 
world class rescue fleet that is the envy of services both 
within Australia and internationally.

Ninety-one new and refurbished vessels have been delivered to units on 
the coastline and two high-risk inland waterways at a cost of more than 

$21 million since MRNSW was established in 2009. This includes 10 new 
vessels, worth $2.45 million, that entered the fleet this year as we continued 
to build our operational capability on both open and enclosed waters. The 
fleet now incorporates 88 operational assets. 

The landmark Fleet Modernisation Program is increasing volunteer safety 
and operational efficiency through the delivery of purpose-built contemporary 
and reliable search and rescue vessels. Financial support from the State 
Government and boating community, standardisation of the fleet, the 
appointment of preferred suppliers and economies of scale have enabled 
remarkable progress to be made.

A number of vessels were repowered, refitted with new electronics and/
or sponsons or otherwise upgraded this year, including Ballina 30, Wooli 30, 
Broken Bay 20 and Port Jackson 30. 

The strategic matching of resources to varying local operational conditions 
and environments has supported volunteer response times and ability. The 
addition of highly-manoeuvrable Rigid Hull Inflatable Boats (RHIBs) and 
Rescue Water Craft has continued to improve crews’ ability to respond 
in problematic areas such as choppy coastal bars and narrow, shallow 
tributaries.

We remain committed to supporting the NSW boat building industry, not 
only for ease of access during construction, maintenance and servicing but 
also to provide valuable skilled employment in regional centres.

MOBILE COMMAND VEHICLE
The new $200,000 MRNSW Mobile Incident Command Vehicle was delivered 
in June. The new resource will facilitate critical command and control during 
major response operations over extended periods or in remote locations, as 
well as providing a back-up communications system for units. 

The Iveco Daily van is fitted out with marine radio communications, IT and 
audio-visual equipment and stand-alone power, including solar panels. It can 
accommodate two radio operators.

NEW VESSELS 2018-19

$

lluka Yamba 20, 5.45m Ocean Cylinder 166,000

Lake Macquarie 20, 7.8m Sailfish catamaran 360,000

Central Coast 30, 10m Naiad 472,000

Central Coast 21, 7.5m Naiad 312,000

Port Macquarie 11, Sea-Doo RWC 20,000

Crowdy 20, 6.8m Naiad 273,000

Forster 20, 6.8m Ocean Cylinder 273,000

Port Jackson 20, 7.5m Naiad 340,000

Tuross 12, 4.8m Naiad 127,000

Moama 10, 4.6m Ocean Cylinder 110,000

Total 2,453,000

Power at sea ... the new Lake Macquarie 20, one of 10 new vessels delivered this year at a cost of $2.45 million. Photo: Shaun Flaherty.
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THE HEART OF OUR SERVICE

Marine Rescue NSW is built on the inspirational efforts 
of the volunteers who give their time, energy and 
commitment to serve our community and fulfil our mission 
to save lives on the water. 

Marine Rescue NSW has maintained a steady volunteer workforce of 
approximately 3,000 members over several years. 

The average MRNSW volunteer is a 61-year-old who has served with 
MRNSW for six-and-a-half years. With the age of the workforce now spanning 
eight decades from 16 to 95 years, the average volunteer age has fallen 
from 67 to 61 in recent years. The ongoing sustainability of our service to the 
boating community relies on our ability to maintain a membership mix of both 
experienced volunteers and a new generation of members keen to serve the 
community and take the organisation forward. 

The average membership tenure for our curent volunteer workforce is 6.45 
years. Forty-eight per cent of members joined five or more years ago (see 
Page 33). Nineteen per cent have been members for more than a decade, 
transferring to MRNSW from one of the predecessor services, the Australian 
Volunteer Coast Guard Association, Royal Volunteer Coastal Patrol or Volunteer 
Rescue Association marine fleet. These original members are the largest 
cohort, closely followed by those who have served for less than a year - at 18 
per cent - indicating that we continue to attract new recruits to our ranks. 

New recruitment videos funded by an Emergency Volunteer Support 
Scheme grant in 2018 will be launched ahead of the 2019-20 boating 
season to help draw more people to our units to help boost our sustainability 
in the decades ahead.

REFLECTING OUR COMMUNITY
Marine Rescue NSW is proud of the membership and accomplishments of our 
female volunteers. The organisation boasts one of the highest proportions of 
female membership in the emergency services sector, at 25.3 per cent.

Women are represented at all levels of the organisation from the Board to 
unit executives and in all operational, administrative and support spheres. 

We are committed to reflecting the community we serve, encouraging 
women, individuals from non-English speaking backgrounds and people of all 
ages to join our ranks. The new recruitment videos will highlight the value of 
volunteering, enabling individuals to give back to their community, learn new 
skills transferrable to the workplace and make friends. 

Marine Rescue NSW again demonstrated its commitment to inclusion and 
equality by joining the 41st Sydney Gay and Lesbian Mardi Gras Parade in 

March. More than of our 30 volunteers, family members, staff and supporters 
joined the parade. 

The Reach Out theme highlighted our role in rescuing people reaching out 
their hand for help on the water and also our reach into the community for 
members, support and inclusion.

VOLUNTEER SERVICE 
This year, our members devoted an incredible total of 612,856 frontline 
volunteer hours to operational communications and rescue vessel duties. 
This comprised 234,940 hours on watch in Search and Rescue Coordination 
Centres and Marine Radio Bases and 377,916 hours on rostered rescue 
vessel duties and weekday call-outs in response to incidents on the water.

While these rostered and emergency duties are pivotal to our mission, our 

3,005
Volunteer
Members

WORKFORCE CHARACTERISTICS

VOLUNTEERS

Male 2,246 (74.7%)

Female 759 (25.3%)

Membership category

Regular 2,441

Provisional 522

Other 42

Total volunteers 3,005

STAFF

Regional Operations Managers 6

Regional Training Managers 3

Headquarters-based 18

Stores  1

Total staff 28

612,856
Hours’ Frontline

Service 

OUR PEOPLE

358
Medals &
Awards
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Women comprise 25.3 per cent of our volunteer membership, with 
Marine Rescue Port Macquarie’s Lauren Stewart, Trish Hallett, 

Taighan Schroder, Erin Cox, Yolanda Bosschieter and Alison Cameron-
Brown (front) among those proudly serving on our frontline. 

Ms Cameron-Brown qualified as the first female Coxswain for both 
her unit and the Mid North Coast Region in October 2018. She is also 
the region’s only female Rescue Water Craft Operator. 

“At the end of the day, we are all working together and it is a team 
effort,” she said.

Demonstrating their competence and experience in all facets of 
operations, a total of 331 women have attained MRNSW ratings: four 
Masters, seven Coxswains, seven Leading Crew, 76 Crew, four Rescue 
Water Craft Operators, one Search and Rescue Support Officer, 52 
Watch Officers and 180 Radio Operators.

Thank you for your 
extraordinary service 

Our volunteers give their time selflessly to fulfil their shared mission of 
saving lives. They serve our community without recompense or reward 

so it is all the more important that we ensure we thank them for their 
contribution to the wellbeing and safety of boaters on our waterways and 
acknowledge their tremendous commitment.

Marine Rescue NSW Long Service Medals were presented to 252 
volunteers in 2018-19, recognising an astounding combined commitment 
of 2,145 years’ service. 

Our nation and community also thanked our volunteers for their diligent 
service. Fifty-nine members were presented with the National Medal or 
Clasp, representing a total of 1,075 years’ dedication to marine rescue.

‘We are all working together.’

The NSW Emergency Services Volunteers Memorial is dedicated to 
the volunteers who have paid the ultimate price while serving our 

community.
Marine Rescue NSW Directors, Commissioner Stacey Tannos, 

Chaplain Richard Wrightson, volunteers and staff represented our 
organisation at the 18th annual Emergency Services Volunteer Memorial 
Service at Mrs Macquarie’s Chair in the Sydney Royal Botanic Gardens 
on October 14, 2018.

The stone memorial bears the names of all the emergency services 
volunteers who have lost their lives while on duty. These include three 
marine rescue volunteers: David Waddell from the Ballina Australian 
Volunteer Coast Guard Association (lost in 1983), Dennis Matthews 
from the Lake Macquarie Royal Volunteer Coastal Patrol (2002) and 
Ted Bristow from the Port Stephens Coast Guard - now Marine Rescue 
Lemon Tree Passage (2004). We honour their memory and service.

Remembering those lost on duty
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OUR PEOPLE

volunteers devote countless additional hours to training and a range of other 
roles, including as unit executives, trainers and assessors and in finance and 
fundraising, community engagement and education, logistics, catering and 
maintenance and upkeep of vessels and bases. Every operational team relies 
on its support crew and the volunteers fulfilling these roles ensure their units 
are well managed and funded so they remain rescue-ready, with trained and 
supported members.

AWARDS & RECOGNITION 
Our nation applauded Marine Rescue NSW volunteers for their 
professionalism, skill and courage this year.

Marine Rescue Lake Macquarie member Jim Stringfellow, former member 
Barry Bonning and the late John Nissen were awarded an Australian 
Commendation for Brave Conduct in August for their courage in a 2013 
mission to save three boaters stranded in severe conditions off Bird Island.

 The boat, South Pacific, was taking on water and its bilge pumps were 
unable to keep up. The crew of Lake Macquarie 21 located the stricken 
vessel and towed it to safety through dangerous seas and winds.

Deputy Commissioner Dean Storey and Monaro Regional Director and MR 
Batemans Bay member Glenn Felkin were this year awarded the Emergency 
Services Medal in recognition of their service and contribution to the safety of 
the boating community and development of MRNSW. 

Chair Jim Glissan was made a Member of the Order of Australia for his 
contribution to the law.

Marine Rescue NSW equally recognised volunteers’ outstanding service. 
Forty-one volunteers were awarded Commissioner’s Commendations for 

Courage or Commissioner’s Citations this year. These awards recognised 
the meritorious conduct in four emergency response operations by 
communications officers and rescue vessel crew members from MR 
Bermagui, Batemans Bay, Narooma, Brunswick, Cape Byron, Jervis Bay and 
Shoalhaven.

In the 2018 NSW Volunteer of the Year Awards, MR Shoalhaven member 
Ray Jones was named a finalist in the Excellence in Volunteer Management 
category and MR Evans Head Deputy Unit Commander Karin Brown a finalist 
in the Senior Volunteer of the Year for the Northen Rivers.

MR Evans Head member Bev Lauritzen was named the Richmond Valley 
Council Volunteer of the Year. Fellow members Neville Hamilton and Heather 
Stacey also were nominated for the award, announced on Australia Day.

MR Merimbula Unit Commander Bill Blakeman was awarded the Bega 
Valley Shire Community Service Medallion during National Volunteer Week in 
May and MR Woolgoolga Deputy Unit Commander Mitch Harvey was named 
the Scouts NSW/ACT Youth Development Award winner in the 2019 Seven 
News Young Achiever Awards NSW & ACT. 

LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT
Australia’s capacity to respond to disasters relies heavily on emergency 
management volunteers. The Australian Institute for Disaster Resilience’s 
Volunteer Leadership Program equips emergency sector volunteers with 
the skills and confidence to grow as leaders. The program brings together 
volunteers from different organisations and agencies to build knowledge and 
share experiences with each other. Participants explore practical leadership 
through interactive learning, gaining an enhanced ability to understand and 
contribute to their organisations.

Four MRNSW members attended the Leadership Program at Batemans Bay 
in June: Ian Leafe (MR Central Coast), Jason Rogers (MR Port Kembla), Karen 
Lowry (MR Sussex Inlet) and Derek Whorlow (DUC, MR Hawkesbury).

David Murn (Batemans Bay), Glenn Evans (Headquarters), Rebecca 
Harband (Port Stephens) and James Roberts (Evans Head) also attended a 
course in Albury in November.

Rebecca also was awarded an Australian Government scholarship through 
the Institute, which is supporting her study for a diploma of public safety and 
emergency management. 

MEMBERSHIP SUPPORT SERVICES
A range of supports were introduced this year to reduce paperwork and red 
tape for units.

Online membership applications, submitted via the Marine Rescue NSW 
website, now enable applicants to upload the required proof-of-identity 
documentation and police record check approval before their membership 
interview with representatives of the unit executive. This has streamlined the 
administrative process of bringing new recruits on board and reduced the 
amount of paper records created and handled.

Exit surveys for volunteers leaving our organisation were introduced in 

AGE PROFILE OF OUR VOLUNTEER WORKFORCE

Under 20 years 1%

20 to 40 years 9%

41 to 50 years 9%

51 to 60 years 16%

61 to 70 years 36%

71 to 80 years 25%

81 years & above 4%
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OUR PEOPLE

June to provide additional data to help improve our volunteer engagement.
Lifejackets are mandatory Personal Protective Equipment for all personnel 

on board Marine Rescue NSW vessels. The programmed servicing of the 
lifejackets is conducted at our Stores at Chatswood. The management of the 
servicing and distribution system also was reviewed and improved for local 
units this year. Online membership renewals and enhanced functionality of 
the OTTER membership management system, to be implemented in 2019-
20, will further reduce the administrative workload for units.

STAFF CHANGES 
Six new staff were employed in 2018-19 to further develop the organisation’s 
capabilities and support our volunteers.Three new positions were created 
and three vacancies were filled. Todd Andrews was appointed the new Chief 
Financial Officer and subsequently, the Company Secretary, replacing Alan 
Skelley, who retired at the 2018 Annual General Meeting. 

Adrian Adam was appointed the new Membership Services Manager and 
previous incumbent Mat Smith the new Grants and Sponsorship Manager. 
Kelvin Parkin is the new Fleet Manager. The additional positions and staff are: 
State Training Manager Brad Whittaker, Property and Projects Manager Mark 
Cooper and Development Officer Sophie Galvin.

WORKFORCE TENURE 

Less than 1 year 18%

One year 9%

2 years 10%

3 years 8%

4 years 7%

5 years 6%

6 years 5%

7 years 6%

8 years 4%

9 years 4%

10 years 4%

More than 10 years 19%

HONOURS & AWARDS WE 
PRESENTED THIS YEAR 

COMMISSIONER’S COMMENDATIONS FOR 
COURAGE 

La Jo Jo Tres rescue operation, South Coast, 
January 24, 2017

Denise Page, Raymond McLeod & Alec Percival  
(Bermagui 30) 
Peter Varkulevicius, Michael Dolan, Paul Hallam  &  
Keith Wrench 
(Batemans Bay 30)

Lord Loveit rescue operation, January 23, 2016

Lazlo Szabo, Christian Havet, Atmo Kusseler & Steven 
Blackhall      
(Brunswick 30)

 

COMMISSIONER’S CITATIONS 

La Jo Jo Tres operation, January 24, 2017

Michael Syrek, Matthew Mason, Peter Withington, 
David Murn & Donald Brewster  
(Batemans Bay 30) 
Judy Barry-Cotter & Peter Ford 
(MR Bermagui Radio Base) 
Clive Cavey 
(MR Narooma Search & Rescue Coordination Centre)

Lord Loveit operation, January 23, 2016

Roy Drew & Desmond Wraight 
(MR Brunswick Radio Base) 
Robert Asquith, Sidney Allen & David Morris 
(MR Cape Byron Radio Base)

ADF operation, November 13, 2016

Kevin Hill, Brian McParlane, Lester Shute, Paul Haslam, 
Harold Plumb, Michael Sutton, Robert Doyle & 
Radisa Zivkovic  
(Marine Rescue Jervis Bay)

Mermaids Inlet operation, January 7, 2018 

Mario Savoca, Stephen Hutchison, Brian Earsman, 
Garth Buchanan, Clifford Kenney, Graham Rickard,  
Michael Boadle, Humberto Rego & Loretta Walton 
(Marine Rescue Shoalhaven)
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coming decade. Blended learning has already been introduced in our first 
aid training, with members reading a workbook and then undertaking an 
online multiple choice quiz before starting their hands-on training. Other 
examples are a recent series of videos produced by Headquarters Training, 
IT and Emergency Systems teams on the use of the Seahawk vessel 
tracking system, Axiom Pro navigation displays, AirBerth boat lifts and the 
Telsta Desktop Messaging System. These are short, sharp, snappy pieces of 
learning that trainees can fit into their day, making learning more flexible and 
supporting members’ work-life-volunteering balance. 

TRAINING ADVISORY GROUP
The Training Advisory Group comprises MR Wooli Unit Commander Richard 
Taffs, MR Bermagui Trainer and Assessor Ray McLeod and Headquarters 
Training personnel. TAG Working Groups are established for specific projects 
and subject areas as required. The production of renewed Leading Crew 
training resources was undertaken by a working group including State 
Training Manager Brad Whittaker, Regional Training Manager Central Jane 
Shirriff, Greater Sydney Regional Operations Manager Glenn Evans, Chris 
Gillett (MR Cottage Point), Ken Edwards (MR Hawkesbury/Cottage Point), Tony 
Gordon (MR Cottage Point) and Peter Steigrad (MR Middle Harbour).

Professional training developed specifically for Marine 
Rescue NSW ensures our volunteers are equipped with 
the skills and knowledge critical to the range of roles and 
responsibilities they willingly embrace.

Volunteer members gained a total of 926 new qualifications in 2018-19, 
reflecting increasing skill levels and capacity across the organisation.

Our training curriculum is delivered by a team of qualified training staff and 
volunteeers under the MRNSW Registered Training Organisation.

Professional skills development remained a focus of intensive activity this 
year to help volunteers gain advanced knowledge and experience in a range 
of subject areas. Fourteen one-day or weekend development sessions were 
organised for Radio Operators, Coxswains and Trainers and Assessors to hone 
their skills in a collaborative environment. A total of 191 Radio Operators and 
155 Coxswains joined sessions held in each region, with 35 Trainers and 
Assessors attending on the Mid North Coast, Greater Sydney and Hunter/
Central Coast.

Additional training activities were dictated by changes to the requirements 
of the Australian Skills Quality Authority, which regulates Registered Training 
Organisations. All RTO Trainers and Assessors need to upgrade existing 
qualifications in relation to adult language, literacy and numeracy skills and 
the design and development of assessment tools. In all, 97 MRNSW Trainers 
and Assessors completed the upgrade ahead of the April deadline. 

SUPPORT FOR LEADERS 
Unit leaders welcomed the introduction of a new program to provide them 
with additional support and skills in managing their teams, operations and 
resources in late 2018. Tailor-made for MRNSW, the Leadership Program 
was added to the training curriculum in response to feedback from Unit 
Commanders and Deputies at the 2017 Leadership Conference.

Delivered in each of the six MRNSW operational regions - at Ballina, Port 
Macquarie, Toukley, Cronulla, Greenwell Point and Narooma - the course 
focused on leading outstanding teams, managing member performance 
and behaviour, emergency management arrangements and unit executive 
appointments. All units were represented, with 80 Commanders, Deputies 
or delegates attending between August 18 and November 25. High levels of 
engagement were reflected in overwhelmingly positive feedback.

FLEXIBLE LEARNING 
In a commitment to reduce our environmental footprint and support flexible 
volunteer learning, we will rely less on printed training resources in the 

BOOSTING CAPABILITY

TRAINING & EDUCATION

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT 2018-19

TRAINING QUALIFICATIONS

Provide First Aid 372

Provide Advanced Resuscitation 348

Radio Operator 83

Watch Officer 12

Crew 83

Leading Crew 12

Coxswain 10

Rescue Water Craft Operator 6

Total 926

80
Leaders 

Upskilled

926   
Qualifications

2018-19

381
in Advanced
Development
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Honing skills and teamwork

Regional Search and Rescue Exercises enable volunteers from a number 
of units and agencies to come together to build and hone their search 

and communications skills, teamwork and inter-agency collaboration. These 
exercises are conducted with our rescue partners, including the NSW Police 
Force Marine Area Command, Surf Life Saving NSW and helicopter rescue 
services. Specialists from both sides of the border gathered for a NSW-
Queensland SAREX based at MR Point Danger in November. More than 50 
personnel assembled for the Greater Sydney SAREX on the Hawkesbury 
River and Broken Bay in late September, followed by 50 of their Illawarra 
Region counterparts off Jervis Bay in October. Another 100 personnel 
assembled for a second Sydney exercise in June. Units continued to stage 
joint local training activities, both in daylight and darkness, to share their 
skills and enhance inter-operability.

Our training expertise 
lauded at State awards

The professionalism of the Marine Rescue NSW education curriculum 
and resources was confirmed when the organisation was named as a 

finalist in the 2018 NSW Training Awards. MRNSW was the only volunteer 
body named as a finalist in the Large Employer of the Year category of the 
awards, announced at Sydney Town Hall on September 12. Conducted by 
Training Services NSW, the awards recognise outstanding achievement 
in the vocational education and training sector. Being named as a finalist 
in our first entry in the awards was valued recognition of the MRNSW 
Registered Training Organisation, which develops and delivers training for 
members. The achievement was due to the work and commitment of our 
volunteers and training team.

Baptism of fire and water

The abiding commitment of Marine Rescue NSW is to the safety of 
our volunteers. Training is the key to ensuring our members have 

the skills they need to operate safely without putting themselves or 
others at risk.The training pathway starts with teaching key capabilities: 
being able to fight a fire on board and survive at sea when there is no 
alternative but to abandon ship. Theoretical and practical training in both 
these skills is mandatory for all members. Fire simulators are employed 
to provide realistic experience in isolating and extinguishing a blaze 
on board. Members learn to survive at sea by immersing themselves 
in the water, fully clothed, wearing a lifejacket. They must then deploy 
and enter a liferaft, calculate each survivor’s rations and be able to 
deploy flares and other emergency signals. Only then are they ready to 
progress to further training.
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GRANTS & FUNDRAISING

More than $3 million in revenue from fundraising and 
grants helped improve facilities, support training and keep 
Marine Rescue NSW units rescue-ready in 2018-19.

SUPPORT FOR OUR VOLUNTEERS

for its ongoing support and contribute to the unit’s coffers. 
Raffles and bingo are enduringly popular activities, this year raising 

$486,000 for units. This was boosted by another $416,000 from community 
markets and mouth-watering barbecues.

The willingness to undertake fundraising in addition to their operational 
duties, training commitments and other unit responsibilities is another 
demonstration of our volunteers’ commitment to their unit and service.

Many businesses, individuals and community groups have again supported 
our units through generous donations, both financial and in-kind, including 
boaters who provide a donation by way of thanks when they are rescued 
and the public who continue to give generously to our many fundraising 
endeavours. We thank each of them for their generosity and willing support of 
our volunteers in their mission to save lives on the water.

The organisation continues to rely on these sources of finance to 
supplement its annual income received from the State Government and 

boating community, which totalled $8.98 million in 2018-19.

GRANTS FUNDING 
Government bodies allocated more than $1,257,000 in grants to 28 MRNSW 
units and Headquarters this year, helping fund a variety of capital works, 
equipment, training and recruitment activities.

The final $250,000 installment was received from the State Government’s 
commitment of $750,000 over three years to assist with the cost of 
upgrading the State’s marine radio network owned and operated by MRNSW. 
The funding was directed to specific projects to upgrade critical infrastructure 
on the NSW North and Mid North coasts.

A $164,080 Port Kembla Community Investment Fund grant was 
announced in February for upgrading and repair works to MR Port Kembla’s 
deteriorating Hill 60 Search and Rescue Coordination Centre.

NSW Community Building Partnership grants worth a total of $50,000 
were allocated to MR Broken Bay for new outboards, MR Narooma for a 
garage refurbishment and MR Nambucca for equipment storage.

The State and Commonwealth governments committed $100,319 in 
Emergency Volunteer Support Scheme grants for nine MRNSW projects 
focused on training equipment and activities. Two State training and 
recruitment projects received more than $71,500 and the Alpine Lakes, 
Broken Bay, Cottage Point, Evans Head, Point Danger, Terrey Hills and 
Tuggerah Lakes units received almost $29,000.

Three projects were funded from the NSW Infrastructure Grants program: 
$161,000 for a new amphibious tender vessel for MR Central Coast and 
$84,900 for two MR Crowdy Harrington projects - two new 4WD vehicles and 
a solar power system for the unit’s training centre and boat shed.

Fifteen units earned another $142,000 in grants, including ClubGrants, 
from non-government sources. 

SUPPORT FOR UNITS
A new Grants and Sponsorship Manager was appointed this year to support 
units in their efforts to secure additional funding. The MRNSW-specific Guide 
to Seeking Grants was revised and new Sponsorship Guidelines developed. 
These comprehensive documents provide units with advice and detailed 
information to help with the time-consuming task of applying for grants and 
to attract sponsorship for their units or specific projects. The guides will be 
released at the 2019 Leadership Conference.

FUNDRAISING 
Our units raised an incredible $1.25 million through their enthusiastic 
fundraising activities this year, including market stalls, barbecues, raffles, 
bingo and sponsorship and a new golf tournament. 
    MR Shellharbour staged the golf day in November to thank the community 

MARINE RESCUE NSW REVENUE

Boat Levies 54%

NSW Govt Core Grant 13%

Other Grants 10%

Activities & Fundraising 9%

Donations 6%

Games of Chance 4%

Sales 2%

Other 2%

Marine Rescue NSW is grateful to receive 67% of its revenue 
from the boating community through the levy on recreational 
boating licences and registrations and the NSW Government.
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RESPECT

Marine search and rescue specialists taking part in the 
Northern Rivers SAREX, including former Canadian 
Naval Ships Diver Phil Pickering, paused for a minute’s 
silence at 11am on Remembrance Day. 
Photo: Brendan Trembath.
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FACILITIES

A comprehensive program was developed this year to 
guide the broad-scale development of new and upgraded 
volunteer facilities funded by additional State Government 
investment in capital works.

BUILDING BETTER WORKPLACES

MR Port Jackson commissioned its new base in February following a 
redevelopment of the Birkenhead Point marina complex and MR Eden 
upgraded its base, adding a new search and rescue coordination facility, 
improved access and a public viewing platform with a $75,000 NSW 
Government Infrastructure Grant. MR Camden Haven completed extensions 
to its radio room, the MR Cape Byron base underwent a major refit in October 
at a cost of $120,000 and MR Trial Bay completed its dedicated training and 
storage facility. MR Port Stephens crews now have a $140,000 ready room 
and emergency equipment storage on the jetty alongside their rescue vessel. 
NSW Government grants also funded a solar power system on MR Crowdy 
Harrington’s training facility and boat shed, new equipment storage at MR 
Nambucca and a refurbishment of MR Narooma’s garage.

Planning is complete and work imminent on a boat shed to provide 
protection from the elements for the Norah Head unit’s new Ocean Cylinder 
rescue vessel. MR Lake Macquarie plans to start work on the redevelopment 
of its Swansea Head radio base in early 2020 and other units, including 
Broken Bay, Terrey Hills, Central Coast and Hawkesbury, are planning 
redevelopments or extensions to overcome the limitations of their cramped 
and ageing facilities that are unsuitable for modern emergency management.

Starting in 2019-20, more than $13 million will be available over four years 
to ease the persistent challenge of providing our volunteer workforce with 

safe, fit-for-purpose operating bases and other assets such as boat sheds 
and jetties.

The Facilities Development Program will be implemented from July 1, 2019 
to guide the strategic allocation of this capital funding and ensure expenditure 
is efficient, accountable and provides maximum benefit for both units and the 
community. 

LEASES 
The majority of MRNSW facilities are occupied under lease or licence from 
government entities. Progress has been made towards the establishment of 
a single Head Licence arrangement with NSW Crown Lands for all buildings 
and other sites held by MRNSW. The newly-appointed Property and Project 
Manager is undertaking a review of the 120-plus site leases/licences 
pertaining to our bases, jetties, moorings and communications towers. This 
review is relevant to both the development of a Head Licence and the pending 
program of capital works.

The East Coast Low storms of April 2015 caused severe damage to the 
Marine Rescue Newcastle base at Shepherds Hill, resulting in the unit’s 
forced relocation to temporary facilities. Four years on, a two-year lease of 
office space has been secured to establish an interim radio and unit base at 
the Newcastle Cruising Yacht Club from July 1. MRNSW has been successful 
in its Expression of Interest for a long term licence of a former Scouts hall at 
Stockton to provide a permanent new home for the unit. A formal licence from 
Crown Lands is pending.

BUILDING WORKS
In 2018-19, work continued on incremental facility upgrades as funding 
permitted. The largest project was the transformation of a former University 
of New England research station into a new $1.3 million base for MR 
Woolgoolga. Members moved into the state of the art base at Arrawarra 
Headland in December. The development was made possible with a 
$600,000 investment by Coffs Harbour City Council, a $441,000 State 
Government Crown Reserve Improvement Fund grant and additional funding 
from the university and MRNSW. 

MR Port Kembla’s Search and Rescue Coordination Centre is based in a 
heritage-listed structure that was part of the World War Two Illowra Coastal 
Defence Gun Battery on an exposed headland at Hill 60. A $164,080 Port 
Kembla Community Investment Fund grant was announced in February to 
upgrade the badly deteriorated building with a new observation deck, public 
access, building repairs and painting and an overhaul of the radio mast. The 
major project began in June. This external work followed the supply and 
installation of new digital radio equipment ahead of the peak summer season. 

The new MR Woolgoolga base on the Arrawarra Headland.

MR Lake Macquarie’s Swansea Head radio base will be redeveloped.
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IT & COMMS

TECHNOLOGY FOR OUR MISSION

Marine Rescue NSW is building a stronger marine radio 
safety net and employing the latest technology for the 
security of boaters along the length of our coastline.

Astrong investment in the State’s marine radio infrastructure in recent 
years has resulted in the VHF network owned and operated by Marine 

Rescue NSW now covering about 85 per cent of the coastline.  
Major projects in the coming financial year will eliminate blackspots and 

improve reception on the Far South Coast. 
This will provide consistent marine radio coverage from Point Danger to 

Eden, extending 20 to 30 nautical miles out to sea, significantly improving the 
safety of boating along the State’s coastline.

RADIO UPGRADES
The largest-scale project for 2018-19 was the final stage of the three-year, 
$750,000 program to address blackspots in reception on the Northern 
Rivers and Mid North Coast. New network infrastructure was installed at Mt 
Yarrahapinni and Seal Rocks.
     This was complemented by upgrades to the MR Trial Bay, MR Coff Harbour 
and MR Woolgoolga radio bases, with digital marine radio technology installed 
to support our statewide online radio monitoring system. RediTALK dispatch 
technology also was installed at the MR Port Kembla and Narooma bases, 
while MR Cape Byron completed an upgrade to its radio base.
     A new remote communications facility was installed at Cowan to support 
radio transmissions around northern Sydney and the Central Coast.

OPERATIONAL ALERT SYSTEM
The roll-out of a standardised operational after hours alert platform and 
associated operating procedures was completed this year. The new Telstra 
Desktop Messaging System has improved operational efficiency and reduced 
emergency response times for on-call rescue crews.

The paging system enables units to quickly contact rescue vessel crew 
members to determine their availability and task them for operational 
deployment. 

RISK MANAGEMENT APP
Work began this year to expand the functionality of the Risk Management App 
that was first released in February 2018 to automate the risk management 
assessment completed by MRNSW members before launching a rescue 
vessel. 

The original App developer, Sublime, is working with MRNSW to extend 
the tool’s functionality to assess risks involved with conducting training and 
community events. The augmented App will be released in 2020.

OPERATIONAL STATUS  
An online Status Board has been developed to support operational decision-
making. The Status Board provides immediate situational awareness of asset 
availability and deployment, giving Regional Operations Managers and Search 
and Rescue Coordination Centres oversight of vessels and resources available 

for tasking. The Status Board shows data such as vessel operating limits, 
contact details, current availability or deployment, tasks being undertaken, 
locations of assets and scheduled or emergency repairs/maintenance.

ONLINE IT SERVICE DESK 
An online IT Service Desk was introduced in November 2018 for units to 
lodge any faults that need Headquarters resolution, including telephone and 
internet issues. More than 200 requests and incidents were logged in the first 
eight months.

The Service Desk capability was subsequently extended with the 
implementation of a Project Management module to support the coordination 
and management of IT work by units and staff. By providing visibililty of 
projects planned and under way, it allows personnel to collaborate, schedule, 
plan and prioritise work and manage resources easily and effectively.  

EXPANDED OTTER FUNCTIONALITY
The Organisational Tracking, Training and E-Records (OTTER) system is the 
MRNSW-developed member management network. After eight years, OTTER 
is now under redevelopment to provide expanded functionality.
      This will meet a range of organisational needs. Members’ past and new 
service records will be more clearly collated after a break in their membership 
to support their eligibility for long service recognition and the National Medal. 
     The dispatch of uniforms and Personal Protective Equipment will be 
accelerated through capturing members’ uniform sizing and preferences. 
     Members’ health and wellbeing will be supported by extending the 
essential medical details that are captured on the system, such as allergies 
and doctors’ contact information.
     Training and operational tasking will be facilitated by recording members’ 
ratings, licence and certificate information, such as boat licences and first aid 
certificates, and course enrolments, scheduling and printed qualifications. 

Radio operator Neil Duffy on duty in the MR Ulladulla radio base, 
equipped with digital vessel tracking and radio technology.
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ACHIEVING TOGETHER

Ours is a shared mission. Marine Rescue NSW is proud to 
operate alongside our rescue partners and all those who 
support us in our life-saving service to the people of our 
State.

PARTNERSHIPS

MRNSW Regional Operations Managers and senior volunteers were based 
in the MAC at East Balmain for extended periods over the peak summer 
boating season to enhance tasking efficiency and operational awareness. 

We also work with agencies such as Surf Life Saving NSW at organisational 
and local levels. New radio technology rolled out in early December will assist 
personnel from both MRNSW and Surf Life Saving to help guard swimmers, 
surfers and other waters from the risk of shark attack.

Emergency response on remote stretches of the Far South Coast has been 
enhanced by strengthened cooperation between two local rescue services. As 
part of their shared commitment to water and boating safety, Marine Rescue 
Bermagui and the Bermagui Surf Life Saving Club have staged joint training to 
polish search and rescue coordination and practices and increase awareness 
of each other’s capabilities in blue water and surf zones. 

PATRON
His Royal Highness The Prince of Wales is the Patron-in-Chief of Marine 
Rescue NSW, continuing his long association with the volunteer marine 
rescue sector in NSW. Prince Charles was previously Patron of the Royal 
Volunteer Coastal Patrol. 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
Marine Rescue NSW sealed its first international partnership with Coastguard 
New Zealand in March. Under a Memorandum of Understanding, the two 
organisations will share information, knowledge and resources in the 
areas of rescue operations, policies and procedures, volunteer training and 
engagement, organisational development and safe boating education. 

REPRESENTATION
Commissioner Stacey Tannos continues his tenure as Chair of the State 
Rescue Board, which oversights rescue service policy development and 
delivery on both land and water in NSW.

The Commissioner also is a member of the State Emergency Management 
Committee. Units contribute to the safety of their communities through their 
representation on Local Emergency Management and Rescue Committees.
Unit representatives and Regional Operations Managers also sit on relevant 
Regional Committees. These bodies ultimately report to the State Emergency 
Management Committee and the State Rescue Board. 

At a national level, MRNSW is a member of the Australian Emergency 
Management Volunteer Forum, National Volunteer Marine Search and Rescue 
Committee and Enterprise Registered Training Organisation Association. 

We also are a member of the International Maritime Rescue Federation, 
which represents marine search and rescue agencies, both professional and 
volunteer, military and civilian, around the world. 

OPERATIONAL PARTNERS
Marine Rescue NSW works closely with the State’s network of emergency 
service, rescue, marine and medical organisations to protect and assist our 
boating community. Cooperation and collaboraton are the basis of the NSW 
emergency management arrangements, ensuring a seamless response to 
emergencies on the water.

The NSW Police Force Marine Area Command (MAC) is responsible for the 
coordination of rescue delivery on the water in this State. 

The MAC and MRNSW work cohesively in emergency operations, 
coordination and training. 

In a concentrated effort over a summer of tragedy, our crews joined police 
in the response to fatalities including searches for missing swimmers at 
Ballina, Woolgoolga, Coffs Harbour and Port Macquarie and a jet ski rider on 
the Hawkesbury River. 

Commissioner Stacey Tannos and Suzuki Marine’s John Haines 
secure a new four-year supply agreement.

Commissioner Stacey Tannos, Coastguard New Zealand President 
Mike Purchase and Deputy Commissioner Dean Storey following the 
signing of the cross-Tasman partnership agreement.
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PARTNERSHIPS

MRNSW units support agencies including NSW Roads and Maritime 
Services, sailing clubs and sporting and community groups by providing a 
communications safety net and on-water logistical and personnel support for 
numerous boating and community events throughout each year.

This year, these included the Sydney to Hobart Yacht Race and other 
sailing events, New Year’s Eve and Australia Day festivities in Sydney and 
regional areas, the new F50 catamaran SailGP on Sydney Harbour, the 
Ulladulla Blessing of the Fleet, Mullum to Bruns Paddle and numerous fishing 
challenges in coastal towns, including at Evans Head, Wooli, Coffs Harbour 
and Lake Cathie.

WILDLIFE 
Marine Rescue NSW doesn’t only assist humans on and around the water.

Our crews also worked this year with the National Parks and Wildlife 
Service, the Department of Primary Industries and ORCCA (the Organisation 
for the Rescue and Research of Cetaceans in Australia) on joint training and 
operations to free whales entangled in marine debris as they migrated along 
the NSW coastline. 

Marine Rescue Port Kembla assisted National Parks efforts to protect the 
habitat of fragile bird populations in the Five Islands Nature Reserve off Port 
Kembla. 

COMMERCIAL PARTNERSHIPS
Marine Rescue NSW cemented its partnerships with three key suppliers 
in 2018-19, signing new agreements to help secure the quality of the 
operational assets vital to its work to save lives on the water.

A renewed supply agreement signed by Commissioner Stacey Tannos and 
Suzuki Marine’s John Haines on November 29 sees Suzuki Marine continue 
as the Power of Choice for the MRNSW outboard-powered fleet to 2022.

The agreement provides for the supply of outboard motors for rescue 
vessels at competitive prices, three-year commercial warranties, responsive 
servicing and joint educational activities to promote boating safety.

Raymarine will continue to supply electronic navigation and search and 
rescue equipment on the fleet under a new three-year agreement. This 
strong partnership, to install technology including Multi Function Displays, 
FLIR thermal imaging cameras and side sonar on rescue vessels, delivers 
significant benefits for operations and training.

Stewart Toyota supplies operational vehicles for Regional Operations 
Managers, Regional Training Managers and, at no cost, a pool vehicle for 
Headquarters. 

We also have valued relationships with our rescue vessel builders, Yamba 
Welding & Engineering, Sailfish Catamarans and Steber International; Rescue 
Water Craft supplier Sea-Doo; Karera Communications, which supports 
our radio infrastructure; charts supplier Navionics; BME, which installs our 
vessel radios and gives generous discounts to our members; and HP, which 
discounts computer equipment prices for units, volunteers and Radio Club 
members.

Thanks must go to the organisations that advertise in our quarterly journal, 
Soundings, which showcases our work and their products and services, along 
with the suppliers for our e-shop, shopmrnsw.com.au 

Working together ... MR Port 
Kembla vessel  Master Bruce 
Williamson on a training exercise 
with the North Wollongong Surf 
Life Saving Club’s call-out team.



42 MARINE RESCUE NSW | ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019

Marine Rescue NSW volunteers are active community 
members, with their distinctive blue uniform signifying 
responsibility, trust and service. 

ENGAGEMENT

PART OF THE COMMUNITY

contributions, however, are more than just financial. These boaters’ raised 
safety awareness makes them an auxiliary asset on the water, potentially 
providing extra eyes for crews seeking a missing vessel or giving initial 
assistance to a fellow boater in trouble until a rescue crew arrives on scene. 

Each Radio Club member is provided a unique marine radio call sign 
that makes it quicker and easier to Log On when heading out on the water. 
Using the free MarineRescue App is also quicker and easier for Radio Club 
members, too. As a gesture of appreciation, Radio Club members receive 
a free e-edition of Soundings each quarter and exclusive discounts on the 
range of safety, boating and fishing gear and MRNSW supporter merchandise 
available on the MRNSW online store at shopmrnsw.com.au

SOCIAL MEDIA 
Social media is an increasingly valuable means for Marine Rescue NSW to 
communicate with the boating community, traditional media and the general 
public. Over 2018-19, we broadened the information and resources posted 
on the corporate Facebook, Twitter and Instagram accounts. These included 
weather warnings from the Bureau of Meteorology, information about 
operations under way, safety messaging and news about our organisational 
activities. Units also have individual Facebook pages to keep their local 
communities updated. The MRNSW Facebook page recorded 10,700 page 
likes over the year, with an audience reach of almost 100,000 for our five 
most popular posts, including the Premier’s announcement of a $37.6 
million funding injection for MRNSW (32,900). MRNSW has 4,900 followers 
on Twitter, of whom 54 per cent are male and 46 per cent female. Our top 
tweet, in February 2019 (7,241 views) was in relation to the search for a man 
missing off Lighthouse Beach in East Ballina. 

Marine Rescue NSW is fundamental to the safety of the water-based 
lifestyle of our coastal communities and those around two important 

inland waterways, the Alpine Lakes and Murray River at Moama. 
As active members of their communities, focused on the public good, 

our volunteers engage with their local and visiting populations year-round, 
creating a high-visibility presence on land and water, whether on duty, 
fundraising, conducting public education and safety awareness activities or 
supporting a range of community events. 

SAFE BOATING EDUCATION
Public boating education continues to be an important aspect of our role. 

Since April, Marine Rescue NSW has operated under the NSW Roads 
and Maritime Services’ Approved Boat Driving Licence Training Provider 
Scheme. Members of the public undertaking a recreational boat or Personal 
Water Craft test at one of our units are now required to take a mandatory 
theory course. Unit members teaching these courses need to meet new 
requirements to hold a Certificate IV in Training and Education, a first aid 
certificate and boat/PWC licence, as well as undergoing Working with 
Children and police record checks.

In the 2018 calendar year, 19 units conducted 179 Safe Boating and 
Personal Water Craft (jet ski) licence courses and testing. A total of 694 adults 
and 184 young adults undertook a boat driver’s licence course and test, with 
a further 107 adults and 13 young adults enrolling in a PWC course. MR Lake 
Macquarie topped the number of workshops offered for the ninth year.

IN THE COMMUNITY
Marine Rescue NSW members are familiar faces in their local communities.
They represent their units at important events such as Anzac Day ceremonies, 
the annual Merchant Mariners’ Service on the Central Coast and Ulladulla’s 
Blessing of the Fleet. They run local markets, are well known for their prowess 
on a barbecue, fundraise in local shopping centres and clubs and support 
a plethora of events such as annual shows, sporting events, other groups’ 
fundraising activities, markets, festivals and parades. 
    Many of these events provide fundraising opportunities but more 
importantly, positively engaging in local community life is a way of building 
trust and saying thank you for the generous reciprocal support we receive.

RADIO CLUBS
Boaters on NSW waters rely on their local MRNSW volunteers to respond 
when they are in trouble on the water. In return, our units also depend on 
the boating public for support. The 13,400 boaters who are members of a 
MRNSW unit Radio Club are a valuable source of support. Each unit has a 
Radio Club of supporters who join our mission to save lives on the water 
through an annual subscription  to support their local volunteers and help 
ensure their local MRNSW unit is always rescue-ready. Radio Club members’ 

Marine Rescue Merimbula member Hannah Cousin ... part of the 
unit’s contingent in the popular Australia Day Float.
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ENGAGEMENT

ON SHOW
Marine Rescue Central Coast members 
Raymond and Jane Lewis and Ian Leafe on 
board the newly-completed Central Coast 30, 
on display at the 2018 Sydney International 
Boat Show. Photo: Brendan Trembath.



Brunswick 30 (BR 30)

Point Danger 20 (PD 20)

Ballina 30 (BA 30)

Point Danger 30 (PD 30) Nambucca 20 (NH 20) - replacement

Trial Bay 30 (TB 30)

Woolgoolga 30 (WO 30)

Evans Head 30 (EH 30)

Iluka Yamba 20 (IY 20)

INVESTING IN SAFETY

The Fleet Modernisation Program has resulted in 91 new and refurbished vessels joining our fleet since Marine Rescue NSW was first established on July 1, 
2009. This includes 10 new vessels delivered in 2018-19. All have been funded, at a cost of more than $21 million, with the financial support of the NSW 

Government and boating community and our units’ dedicated fundraising and sponsors. Central Coast 30 (above) was delivered to its base on Brisbane Water at 
Point Clare in August 2018. Photo: Brendan Trembath.

FLEET



Ballina 30 (BA 30)

Point Danger 30 (PD 30) Nambucca 20 (NH 20) - replacement

Trial Bay 30 (TB 30)

Coffs 30 (CO 30)

Nambucca 11 (NH 11) - replacement

Trial Bay 11 (TB 11)

Woolgoolga 30 (WO 30)

Iluka Yamba 30 (IY 30)0)Evans Head 30 (EH 30)

Iluka Yamba 20 (IY 20) Wooli 30 (WI 30)



Trial Bay 12 (TB 12) 

Port Macquarie 20 (PM 20)

Crowdy 20 (CB 20)  - replaced

Port Macquarie 30 (PM 30)M 30) 

Port Macquarie 10 (PM 10) - replacement

Crowdy 20 (CB 20) - replacement Lake Macquarie 13 (LM 13) - replacement

Lake Macquarie 30 (LM 30)

Forster 30 (FO 30) 

Port Stephens 31 (PS 31) 

Port Macquarie 11 (PM 11) Camden Haven 30 (CH 30)

Camden Haven 10 (CH 10) Crowdy 30 (CB 30) 

Lemon Tree Passage 30 (LT 30)



Port Macquarie 30 (PM 30)M 30) 

Port Macquarie 10 (PM 10) - replacement

Crowdy 20 (CB 20) - replacement Lake Macquarie 13 (LM 13) - replacement

Lake Macquarie 30 (LM 30)

Norah Head 20 (NR 20)

Lake Macquarie 20 (LM 20)

Forster 30 (FO 30) Forster 20 (FO 20)

Port Stephens 31 (PS 31) Port  Stephens 30 (PS 30)

Camden Haven 30 (CH 30)

Crowdy 30 (CB 30) 

Lemon Tree Passage 30 (LT 30) Newcastle 30 (NC 30)



Central Coast 21 (CC 21) - replaced

Central Coast 11 (CC 11)

Hawkesbury 21 (HW 21) & Hawkesbury 22 (HW 22)

Cottage Point 31 (CP 31) - formerly TG 30

Central Coast 20 (CC 20)

Broken Bay 20 (BB 20)

Cottage Point 30 (CP 30)

Middle Harbour 20 (MH 20) - formerly NH 20

Central Coast 21 (CC 21) - replacement

PPPPort Jackson 20 (PJ 20) - replacement

Port Hacking 30 (PH 30)

Port Jackson 30 (PJ 30)

Middle Harbour 30 (MH 30) 

Tuggerah Lakes 20 (TL 20) & Tuggerah Lakes 21 (TL 21) 



Central Coast 20 (CC 20)

Broken Bay 20 (BB 20)

Cottage Point 30 (CP 30)

Middle Harbour 20 (MH 20) - formerly NH 20

Central Coast 21 (CC 21) - replacement

PorPort Kembla 30 (PK 30)

PPPPort Jackson 20 (PJ 20) - replacement

Port Hacking 30 (PH 30)

Port Jackson 20 (PJ 20) - replaced

Botany 30 (BY 30)

Port Jackson 30 (PJ 30)

Middle Harbour 30 (MH 30) 



50 MARINE RESCUE NSW | ANNUAL REPORT 2013-2014

Shoalhaven 30 (SA 30) & Shoalhaven 20 (SA 20)

Jervis Bay 20 (JB 20) - replacement

Ulladulla 30 (UL 30) & Ulladulla 20 (UL 20)

Jervis Bay 40 (JB 40)

Port Kembla 20 (PK 20)

POWER ON
THE WATER

Powering to the rescue, sister 
Sailfish catamarans, Cottage  

Point 30 & Cottage Point 31.



Shoalhaven 30 (SA 30) & Shoalhaven 20 (SA 20)

Jervis Bay 20 (JB 20) - replacement

Ulladulla 30 (UL 30) & Ulladulla 20 (UL 20)

Shoalhaven 10 (SA 10)

Jervis Bay 20 (JB 20) - replaced

Sussex Inlet 30 (SI 30)

Ulladulla 10 (UL 10)

Jervis Bay 40 (JB 40)

Port Kembla 20 (PK 20) Shellharbour 30 (SH 30)



Batemans 21 (BM 21) Tuross 20 (TU 20)

Tuross 13 (TU 13) Narooma 30 (NA 30)

Narooma 11 (NA 11)

Kioloa 20 (KL 20) Batemans 30 (BM 30)

Batemans 20 (BM 20) - replaced Batemans 20 (BM 20) - replacement

Narooma 12 (NA 12) X Ray 22 (X 22)

Moama 10 (MO 10)

Alpine Lakes 21 (AL 21) - replacement

Bermagui 30 (BG 30)

Alpine Lakes 20 (AL 20)



Tuross 20 (TU 20)

Narooma 30 (NA 30)

Batemans 30 (BM 30)

Batemans 20 (BM 20) - replacement

Narooma 12 (NA 12) X Ray 22 (X 22) X Ray 10 (X 10)

X Ray 21 (X 21)Moama 10 (MO 10)

Alpine Lakes 21 (AL 21) - replaced

Alpine Lakes 21 (AL 21) - replacement

Merimbula 30 (MB 30)Bermagui 30 (BG 30)

Alpine Lakes 20 (AL 20)

Moama 20 (MO 20)
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GOVERNANCE

Photo: Brad Whittaker.
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CORPORATE MANAGEMENT  

Marine Rescue NSW is an independendent volunteer 
marine rescue organisation, with strong corporate 
governance and a professional management structure 
underpinning our operational performance.

Our 3,005 volunteers are widely recognised for their service, commitment 
and capability. Thanks to their life-saving efforts, supported by the 

Board of Directors and our management and staff, our organisation is 
acknowledged as the leader in the national volunteer marine rescue sector 
and internationally as an agency of substantial repute. 

Unlike the majority of the state’s emergency services, Marine Rescue NSW 
is not a government body but rather, an independent, community-based 
service established by and for its volunteer membership.

LEGISLATION 
As a not-for-profit company limited by guarantee, Marine Rescue NSW is 
a registered charity and complies with the requirements of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012, the Charitable 
Fundraising Act 1991 and the Corporations Act 2001. Our non-profit status 
underlines the importance of fundraising activities, grants, donations and 
sponsorship in supplementing our base revenue stream. In 2018-19, 54 per 
cent of our revenue was raised through a levy on recreational boating licences 
and registrations. Another 23 per cent came from the core annual NSW 
Government grant and other grants funding from both the government and 
non-government sectors. 

Marine Rescue NSW has operated under the legislative auspices of the 
State Emergency Management Act 1989 since its inception in 2009, with 
an amendment to provide it specific recognition as a legislated emergency 
service organisation passed by the State Parliament in November 2018. 

Although Marine Rescue NSW sits outside the NSW Government, it reports to 
the responsible Minister for Emergency Services, along with relevant agencies 
in the Department of Communities and Justice. MRNSW also is required to 
comply with State rescue policies and its units are accredited by the Minister 
for Emergency Services on the recommendation of the State Rescue Board.

Training, fleet and operational standards have been revised and developed 
to meet the requirements of the Commonwealth’s Marine Safety (Domestic 
Commercial Vessel) National Law Act 2012, specifically Exemption 24, which 
took effect for the volunteer marine rescue sector on July 1, 2016.

BOARD 
The leadership of the company is vested in the membership through the 
democratically-elected Board of Directors. The Board comprises nine 
Directors: three General Directors and six Regional Directors. General 
Directors are elected for three-year terms and Regional Directors for two. 
Regular and Life Members are eligible to vote in Board elections but not 
Provisional or Honorary Members. The Chair is elected by the Board following 
each Annual General Meeting, held on the last Saturday in November.
The Board met at Headquarters in August, October, November (the Annual 

Marine Rescue NSW State Headquarters is located on 
the scenic Hungry Point Reserve at Cronulla in southern 
Sydney, overlooking Port Hacking and the Royal National 
Park. The Reserve also houses the Marine Rescue Botany 
Port Hacking unit, Solander Radio Base and rescue vessel 
Port Hacking 30. Photo: Brad Whittaker. 
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General Meeting), February and April and held informal gatherings with 
members in different regions in the alternate months. The Board has the 
benefit of detailed management papers, recommendations and advice to 
assist its decision-making processes.

DIRECTORS 2018-19
Marine Rescue NSW Directors during all or part of 2018-19: James Glissan 
AM, ESM, QC (Board Chair and General Director); Patricia Fayers ESM 
(General Director); Robert Wilson (General Director); William Wardrobe 
(Northern Rivers Regional Director); John Lynch ESM (Mid North Coast 
Regional Director); James Wright (Hunter/Central Coast Regional Director); 
Ken Edwards (Greater Sydney Regional Director); Keven Marshall ESM 
(Illawarra Regional Director); and Glenn Felkin ESM (Monaro Regional 
Director). Mr Wardrobe passed away in November 2018, a year into his term 
of office. The Northern Rivers Regional Director’s position has since been 
vacant.

MANAGEMENT 
Marine Rescue NSW operates under the leadership of the Commisioner 
and Chief Executive Officer Stacey Tannos and Deputy Commissioner Dean 
Storey. Eighteen of the 28 staff, including the Commissioner and Deputy 
Commissioner, are based at the State Headquarters in a range of professional 
specialties, such as financial and fleet management, IT development, 
emergency systems management, communications, media and marketing, 
volunteer support and training development and service delivery.

Each of the six operational regions is overseen by a Regional Operations 
Manager. These personnel coordinate operational tasking, response 
and coordination, resource management, unit executive support and 
Headquarters/unit liaison. 

The North, Central and South Regional Training Managers guide training 
development, service delivery and assessment in two regions each. The 
Stores Manager operates from the State Stores at Chatswood, coordinating 

the distribution of uniform items, medals and other resources and managing 
the servicing of crew lifejackets. 

The MRNSW staff:volunteer ratio is one of the lowest in the emergency 
services sector at 1:107, confirming that the volunteer workforce remains at 
the core of corporate endeavours.

ACCOUNTABILITY
Marine Rescue NSW is committed to the responsible and transparent 
management of the organisation and its finances. The organisation’s 
consolidated accounts - those of Headquarters and units - are subject to 
annual independent audit. The financial statements and audit report are 
printed in the Annual Report, published online at www.mrnsw.com.au 

State Government and boating community funding is managed under a 
five-year Operational Funding Agreement, which will be replaced by a new 
agreement consolidating all government funding in 2019-20. Grants are 
expended and acquitted in accordance with each funding body’s specific 
requirements.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Chief Financial Officer Todd Andrews

REGISTERED CHARITY STREET ADDRESS & 
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
Marine Rescue NSW State Headquarters, Building 1, 202 Nicholson Parade, 
Cronulla, NSW 2230. PO Box 579, Cronulla, NSW 2230.

AUDITOR
Grant Thornton 

BANK
Westpac

Marine Rescue NSW staff assemble at the State Headquarters in Sydney in December 2018.

GOVERNANCE
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DIRECTORS’ QUALIFICATIONS & EXPERIENCE

Mr James Glissan AM, ESM, QC 
CHAIR 
General Director 

Appointed Original Director 
3 July 2009 – 11 December 2010 

Elected  
11 December 2010, 3 year term 
23 November 2013, 3 year term 
26 November 2016, 3 year term

Mr Glissan is a member of Marine Rescue Botany Port Hacking, after joining 
the Australian Volunteer Coast Guard Association Botany Bay flotilla in 2008. 
He has been elected as Chair of the Board each year since 2010. He has 
been a Barrister since 1971 and a QC since 1985. With extensive practice in 
Company and Commercial law, Mr Glissan has served as a Public Defender 
NSW (1981-1984), Associate Judge, District Court of NSW (1989-1991) and 
on numerous Boards, including the Firearms Safety Awareness Council NSW. 
He was made a Member of the Order of Australia (AM) in 2019.

Mrs Patricia Fayers ESM 
General Director 

Elected 
29 November 2014, 3 year term 
25 November 2017, 3 year term

Mrs Fayers is a member of Marine Rescue Central Coast and the first woman 
elected to the MRNSW Board. She has served 21 years in volunteer marine 
rescue since joining the Central Coast division of the Royal Volunteer Coastal 
Patrol (RVCP) in 1998. She was appointed Divisional Commander from 2006 
to 2010 and elected as Unit Commander from 2012 to 2014. A Skipper One, 
Mrs Fayers has participated in many rescue operations and has served in 
positions including Watch Officer, Assistant Quartermaster, radio invigilator 
and boat licence tester in MRNSW.

Mr Robert Wilson 
General Director 

Elected 
24 November 2018, 3 year term 
Greater Sydney Regional Director 
11 December 2010, 2 year term 
24 November 2012, 2 year term

Mr Wilson is a member of Marine Rescue Botany Port Hacking. He joined 
the Australian Volunteer Coast Guard Association in 2007 and has held roles 
including Deputy Commander of the Botany Bay Coast Guard and MR Botany 
Bay and, since 2016, unit fundraising, public relations and events officer. Mr 
Wilson was MRNSW Company Secretary from 2011 until 2015 and Sydney 
International Boat Show and Trailer Boat Show coordinator for 10 years. A 
retired taxation agent and former staff member of the Australian Taxation 
Office, he holds qualifications in accounting, economics and taxation law. 

Mr William Wardrobe 
Regional Director 
Northern Rivers 

Elected 
25 November 2017, 2 year term

Deceased November 12, 2018

Mr Wardrobe joined Marine Rescue Evans Head in 2014. A qualified Radio 
Operator who performed regular duty, Mr Wardrobe was completing his Watch 
Officer training and had been actively involved in unit fundraising and as 
Unit Membership Officer. He had previously acted as Unit Commander and 
Deputy Unit Commander. He had 40 years’ management experience with 
Wesfarmers. From 1978 until his retirement in 2008, he was the National 
Buyer for Kmart Australia Ltd in the menswear, sporting goods, camera and 
optical, electrical, major appliances and garden departments.
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Mr John Lynch ESM 
Regional Director  
Mid North Coast 

Elected  
3 December 2011, 2 year term  
23 November 2013, 2 year term  
28 November 2015, 2 year term 
25 November 2017, 2 year term

Mr Lynch is a member of Marine Rescue Forster-Tuncurry, after joining the 
Royal Volunteer Coastal Patrol in 1995. He is a Life Member of MRNSW and 
a qualified offshore skipper, Watchkeeper and Trainer and Assessor. He has 
held positions including Administration Officer, Secretary, Treasurer and Unit 
Commander, along with Senior Regional Officer North Coast, Member State 
Rescue Board Accreditation Team and Delegate Great Lakes Emergency 
Management Committee. He is a former member of the Royal Australian Navy 
and Company Secretary of a regional Australian bank and its subsidiaries.

Mr James Wright 
Regional Director 
Hunter/Central Coast 

Elected 
25 November 2017, 2 year term

Mr Wright is a member of Marine Rescue Lake Macquarie. He joined the 
RVCP on Lake Macquarie in 2008 and was the Commander when the division 
agreed to merge with the Swansea Coast Guard flotilla in 2010, following 
the formation of MRNSW. Mr Wright served as Unit Commander from 2014 
to 2016. A Radio Operator and Coxswain, he undertakes regular duties and 
participates in crew training. Mr Wright is a former investigator with the Office 
of Fair Trading and at the time of his retirement was in charge of the Licensee 
Investigations Team. He also is a Justice of the Peace.

Mr Ken Edwards 
Regional Director 
Greater Sydney  

Elected 
24 November 2018, 2 year term

Mr Edwards joined Marine Rescue Hawkesbury in 2010 before transferring 
to MR Cottage Point in 2019. He has previously served as MR Hawkesbury 
Unit Commander (2016-2018), Deputy Unit Commander (2013-2016) and 
Administration and Stores Officer. Mr Edwards holds a Certificate III Marine 
Operations, a Master rating and a Certificate IV Training and Assessment and 
maintains his role as a regional Trainer and Assessor. A Justice of the Peace 
and licensed real estate agent, he has been the director of both a franchise 
and a family real estate agency for 33 years.

Mr Keven Marshall ESM 
Regional Director 
Illawarra 

Elected 
25 November 2017, 1 year term 
24 November 2018, 2 year term

Mr Marshall joined the RVCP at Ulladulla - now Marine Rescue Ulladulla - in 
1998. He has held a number of positions including Deputy Unit Commander, 
Training Officer, Assessor and Operations Officer. Undertaking regular Radio 
Operator shifts, he assists with fundraising and has been instrumental in the 
maintenance of the unit’s rescue vessels. A former skipper of an Australian 
Customs vessel, Mr Marshall holds a Master 5 marine qualification. Awarded 
the Emergency Services Medal in June 2017, he is a Justice of the Peace. Mr 
Marshall was originally elected for a one-year term to fill a casual vacancy.

DIRECTORS’ QUALIFICATIONS & EXPERIENCE

GOVERNANCE
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Mr Glenn Felkin ESM 
Regional Director  
Monaro  

Elected 
28 November 2015, 1 year term  
26 November 2016, 2 year term 
24 November 2018, 2 year term

Mr Felkin is a member of Marine Rescue Batemans Bay, after joining the 
RVCP in 2009. A Marine Master, he has held positions including Acting 
Deputy Unit Commander, Training Officer, Watch Officer, Crew Leader and 
maintenance controller. Mr Felkin was a crew trainer and assessor for the 
new MR Moama and an introductory trainer for the roll-out of the Seahawk 
vessel tracking system for units from Kioloa to Eden. He has a professional 
background in the aviation and motor industries, including more than 20 
years with Qantas. He was originally elected for a year to fill a casual vacancy.

Online voting system introduced 
for 2018 Board elections

The MRNSW Board elections were modernised and streamlined in 
2018 with the roll-out of a new online voting system.

Regular and Life Members from all six regions were able to vote in 
the landmark first digital election for a General Director, contested by 
four candidates. The Greater Sydney, Illawarra and Monaro Directors 
all were elected unopposed. 

Eligible members were emailed a link to the voting website, the 
required Annual General Meeting materials and a link to the online 
2017-18 Marine Rescue NSW Annual Report.

There were no reports of difficulties in voting, which members 
completed via a portal on the MRNSW website.

The new system was developed in-house with NetBit, producing 
a net saving of $7,500 over the 2017 election cost of printing and 
mailing election and AGM papers.

The Returning Officer reported that the online counting had saved 
two days of vote counting.

Future elections will be conducted online.

The MRSW Board of Directors assembles at MR Forster-Tuncurry.
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
To the Responsible Entities of Volunteer Marine Rescue NSW  
 

In accordance with the requirements of section 60-40 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, as 
lead auditor for the audit of Volunteer Marine Rescue NSW for the year ended 30 June 2019, I declare that, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
audit. 

 

 

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants 
 

 
 
James Winter 
Partner – Audit & Assurance 

Sydney, 19 October 2019 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of Volunteer Marine Rescue NSW  

Report on the audit of the financial report 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Volunteer Marine Rescue NSW (the “Registered Entity”) which comprises the 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, and the statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in funds and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies and the Responsible Entities’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the financial report of Volunteer Marine Rescue NSW has been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including: 

a) giving a true and fair view of the Registered Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended; and  

b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Regulation 2013. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  We are 
independent of the Registered Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and 
Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

 



 

 

 

 

Responsibilities of the Responsible Entities for the financial report 

The Responsible Entities of the Registered Entity are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Act 2012, and the 
Charitable Fundraising Act 1991, and for such internal control as the Responsible Entities determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.   

In preparing the financial report, the Responsible Entities are responsible for assessing the Registered Entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Responsible Entities either intend to liquidate the Registered Entity or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  

The Responsible Entities are responsible for overseeing the Registered Entity’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 

¥  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

¥  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Registered Entity’s 
internal control. 

¥  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the Responsible Entities. 

¥  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Responsible Entities’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Registered Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Registered Entity 
to cease to continue as a going concern. 

¥  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 



 

 

 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
Report in accordance with the Charitable Fundraising Act NSW 1991 
Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Volunteer Marine Rescue NSW (the “Entity”) for year ended 30 June 
2019.  

In our opinion, in all material respects: 

1) the financial statements show a true and fair view of the financial result of fundraising appeals by the Entity for the 
year to which they relate; 

2) the financial statements and associated records have been properly kept by the Entity during that year in 
accordance with the Charitable Fundraising Act NSW 1991 and Regulation 2015; 

3) money received as a result of fundraising appeals conducted during that year by the Entity has been properly 
accounted for and applied in accordance with this Act and the Regulation; and  

4) there are reasonable grounds to believe the Entity will be able to meet its debts as and when they fall due. 

Emphasis of Matter 

We draw attention to Note 2c(iii) to the financial report which describes the revenue recognition policy of the Entity regarding 
revenue from donations and fundraising, including the limitations that exist in relation to the recording of cash receipts from 
donations and fundraising. Revenue from this source represents a significant proportion of the Entity’s revenue. Our opinion is 
unmodified in respect of this matter.  

Responsibilities 

The Responsible Entities of the Entity are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Financial Report in 
accordance with the requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act NSW 1991 and Regulation 2015. Our objectives are to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatements, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. 

 
Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants 

 
James Winter 
Partner – Audit & Assurance 
Sydney, 19 October 2019 
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VIGILANCE

The Sydney Harbour theatre of operations 
requires navigational skill and constant 

situational awareness. MR Middle Harbour’s 
Jane Lugsdin prepares for duty on the nation’s 

busiest waterway. Photo: Brendan Trembath. 
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GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Responsible Entities of Volunteer Marine Rescue NSW: 

a.  The financial statements of Volunteer Marine Rescue NSW are in 
accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Act 2012, including:

i.  Giving a true and fair view of its financial position as at 30 June 
2019 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that 
date; and

ii.  Complying with Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements and the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Regulation 2013.

b.  There are reasonable grounds to believe that Volunteer Marine Rescue 
NSW will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Responsible Entities: 

Declaration by the Principal Officer in accordance with the Charitable 
Fundraising Act 1991 on behalf of responsible entities in respect of 

fundraising appeals:

I, Stacey Tannos, Commissioner and Chief Executive Officer of Marine 
Rescue NSW, declare that: 

1.  the attached financial statements give a true and fair view of all income 
and expenditure of the company with respect to fundraising appeals;

2.  the attached statement of financial position gives a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs with respect to fundraising appeals; 

3.  the provisions of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 (NSW), the 
regulations under the Act and the conditions attached to the authority 
have been complied with; and 

4.  the internal controls exercised by the company are appropriate and 
effective in accounting for all income received.

RESPONSIBLE ENTITIES’ 
DECLARATION

DECLARATION BY THE PRINCIPAL 
OFFICER

Stacey Tannos ESM
Commissioner
Chief Executive Officer
Sydney, 19 October 2019

James L Glissan AM, ESM, QC 
Director 
Sydney, 19 October 2019

John Lynch ESM
Director
Sydney, 19 October 2019
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Note

2019 
$

2018
$

Revenue and other income

 NSW recreational boat licence & registration levy  7,257,353 6,266,892

 NSW Government core grant 1,719,463 1,683,108

 Other grant income 1,399,297 1,256,820

 Donations 853,052 850,523

 Activities income 438,526 603,861

 Proceeds from insurance claims  16,772 123,081

 Profit on sale of assets - 87,189

 Other income 1,718,837 1,571,425

 Total revenue and other income 4 13,403,300 12,442,899

Expenditure

 Activities expenses 33,063 142,948

 Administration 1,029,714 993,420

 Depreciation 3,391,892 3,268,571

 Grant expenditure 86,734 357,385

 IT expenditure 355,310 282,956

 Loss on sale of assets 49,123 -

 Maintenance & development of assets 2,505,872 2,223,528

 Marketing 92,675 121,521

 Staff costs 3,381,432 3,011,445

 Training expenses 192,347 132,266

 Other expenses 1,830,437 1,671,377

 Total expenditure 4 12,948,599 12,205,417

Net surplus      454,701       237,482

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income for the year            -            -

Total comprehensive surplus/(deficit) for the year 454,701 237,482

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 70-86.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS & COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 70-86.

AS AT 30 JUNE 2019

 
Note

2019 
$

2018
$

Current assets

 Cash and cash equivalents 13(a) 7,737,802 8,228,806

 Trade and other receivables 5 1,228,180 922,431

 Inventories 6 465,939 447,562

Total current assets 9,431,921 9,598,799

Non-current assets

 Property, plant and equipment 7 19,702,673 18,795,417

Total non-current assets 19,702,673 18,795,417

Total assets 29,134,594 28,394,216

Current liabilities

 Trade and other payables 8 1,801,864 1,119,872

 Borrowings from non-related entity 9(a) 505,768 951,367

 Provisions 10(a) 439,163 473,230

Total current liabilities 2,746,795 2,544,469

Non-current liabilities

 Borrowings from non-related entity 9(b) 844,597 852,720

 Provisions 10(b) 217,505 126,031

Total non-current liabilities 1,062,102 978,751

Total liabilities 3,808,897 3,523,220

Net assets 25,325,697 24,870,996

Members Funds

Transferred assets reserve - -

Accumulated funds 25,325,697 24,870,996

Total funds 25,325,697 24,870,996

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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Transferred Assets 
Reserve

$

Accumulated  
funds

$

Total funds

$

Balance at 1 July 2017 9,849,267 14,784,247 24,633,514

Total comprehensive income for the year

 Net surplus for the year - 237,482 237,482

Total comprehensive surplus for the year - 237,482 237,482

 Fair value of transferred assets 
 transferred to accumulated funds 

(9,849,267) 9,849,267 -

Balance at 30 June 2018 - 24,870,996 24,870,996

Balance at 1 July 2018 - 24,870,996 24,870,996

Total comprehensive income for the year

 Net surplus for the year - 454,701 454,701

Total comprehensive surplus for the year - 454,701 454,701

Balance at 30 June 2019 - 25,325,697 25,325,697

AS AT 30 JUNE 2019

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 70-86.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 70-86.

 
Note

2019 
$

2018 
$

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash received from levies, grants, donations & other income 13,109,376 12,826,572

Cash paid to suppliers & employees (8,821,564) (8,993,667)

Net cash provided by operating activities 13(b) 4,287,812 3,832,905

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from property, plant & equipment 272,388 248,672

Interest received 94,705 103,691

Payments for purchases of property, plant & equipment (4,620,658) (2,599,997)

Net cash used in investing activities (4,253,565) (2,247,544)

Cash flows from financing activities

Interest on equipment loans (Westpac) (71,529) (111,051)

Repayment of capital on equipment loans (Westpac) (868,492) (902,087)

Repayment of borrowings (144,000) (144,000)

Proceeds of borrowings 558,770 - 

Net cash proceeds from financing activities (525,251) (1,157,138)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (491,004) 428,223

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 8,228,806 7,800,583

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 13(a) 7,737,802 8,228,806

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
The financial statements of Volunteer Marine Rescue NSW, operating as Marine Rescue NSW (MRNSW), for the year 
ended 30 June 2019 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 19 October 2019. 
MRNSW is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 

2. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a. Basis of Preparation
General Purpose Financial Statements
These General Purpose Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the Australian 
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. The company is a ‘Not for profit’ entity registered with the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission and registered under the Charitable Fundraisng Act 1991.
Historical cost convention and currency
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain non-
current assets and financial instruments. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for 
assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted.

b. Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of financial statements requires the Directors to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other various factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
Significant accounting estimates and assumptions 
The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are: 

Make good provisions
 Provisions for future costs to return certain leased premises to their original condition are based on the 
company’s experience with previous premises and estimates of likely restoration costs determined by 
management. These estimates may vary from the actual costs incurred as a result of conditions existing at 
the date the premises are vacated. Management has estimated that the lease make good provisions will be 
negligible.
Provisions for employee benefits 
 Provisions for employee benefits payable after 12 months from the reporting date are based on future wage 
and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service, as discussed in Note 2(m). The 
amount of these provisions would change should any of these factors change in the next 12 months.
Useful lives of depreciable assets
 Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on 
the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical obsolescence that may 
change the utility of certain software and IT equipment.
Inventories
 Management estimates the net realisable values of inventories, taking into account the most reliable evidence 
available at each reporting date. The future realisation of these inventories may be affected by future 
technology or where they no longer meet the requirements of the company through changes in design or 
equipment redunancy. No provision for impairment has been recognised at the date of this financial report.
Long Service Leave
 The liability for Long Service Leave is recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated cash 
flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of the 
liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation have been taken into 
account.
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c. Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when the company is legally entitled to the income and the amount can be quantified with 
reasonable accuracy. Revenues are recognised net of the amounts of Goods and Services Tax (GST) payable to 
the Australian Taxation Office. Income from a contribution is recognised when the company obtains control of the 
contribution or right to receive the contribution, it is probable the economic benefits comprising the contribution will 
flow to the entity and the amount can be measured reliably.

(i) Government funding 
 Under an agreement with the Office of Emergency Management (formerly the NSW Ministry for Police and 
Emergency Services), the company’s services are supported by funding received from the NSW Government 
in the form of a core Government grant and through NSW Roads and Maritime Services as a portion of 
recreational boating registrations and licences. Grants received on the condition that specified services are 
delivered, or conditions are fulfilled, are considered reciprocal. Such grants are initially recognised as a liability 
and revenue is recognised as services are performed or conditions fulfilled. Revenue from non-reciprocal 
grants is recognised when the company obtains control of the funds.
(ii) Interest revenue
 Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.
(iii) Donations and fundraising
 Donations collected, including cash, in kind donations, donations of vessels and equipment and goods for 
resale, are recognised as revenue when the company gains control, economic benefits are probable and 
the amount of the donation can be measured reliably. Volunteer Marine Rescue NSW, in common with most 
organisations dependent upon such contributions, is unable to establish control over voluntary donations prior 
to their initial entry in the accounting records.
(iv) Other grants
 Grants received for a specific project not yet completed are only recognised as income when the project 
occurs or the terms and conditions are met as these amounts are repayable if not fully utilised on the specific 
project. Grants received for general operational funding and which are not repayable are brought to account 
as income when received. Revenue from sales of goods comprises revenue earned (net of returns, discounts 
and allowances) from the sale of goods purchased for resale and gifts donated for resale. Sales revenue is 
recognised when the control of goods passes to the customer.
(v) Asset sales
 The gain or loss on disposal of all non-current assets and available-for-sale financial investments is 
determined as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the time of the disposal and the 
net proceeds on disposal. Compensation from third parties for items of property, plant and equipment that 
were impaired, lost or given up shall be included in profit or loss when the compensation becomes receivable. 
The impaired or lost assets shall be written off. The cost of items of property, plant and equipment restored, 
purchased or constructed as replacements  is capitalised as capital assets.
(vi) Investment income
 Investment income comprises interest. Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest 
method.

d. Expenditure
All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings that aggregate all costs 
related to the category. Where costs cannot be directly attributed to a particular category they have been allocated to 
activities on a basis consistent with use of the resources.  

Fundraising costs are those incurred in seeking voluntary contributions by donation and do not include costs of 
disseminating information relating to the activities carried on by the company.

Management and administration costs are those incurred in connection with the administration of the company 
and compliance with constitutional and statutory requirements. Other costs comprise investment management fees, 
information and education costs.
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e. Income Tax
The company is exempted from paying income tax due to it being a charitable institution in terms of Section 50–5 of 
the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997, as amended.

f. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value or term 
deposits longer than three months in duration that may be broken without prejudice and are subject to an insignificant 
risk of change in value at call.

g. Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (GST), except:

 (i) where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of expense; or 
 (ii) for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of the cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as 
operating cash flows. 

h. Financial Assets
Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market are classified as loans and receivables. These are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest rate.

Catch ... Paul Haslam throws a line with pinpoint accuracy from Jervis Bay 20 to the crew of a yacht with engine trouble and a jammed 
headsail close to Bowen Island. Photo: Brendan Trembath.
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Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each 
balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset the estimated future cash flows of the investment 
have been impacted. For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial assets including uncollectible trade receivables is reduced by the impairment 
loss through the use of an allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or 
loss.

With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, 
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the 
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised.

i. Impairment of long-lived assets
At the end of each reporting period the company assesses whether there is any indication that individual assets 
are impaired. Where impairment indicators exist, a recoverable amount is determined and impairment losses are 
recognised in profit or loss where the asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

For the purpose of assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. Where it is not possible to estimate recoverable amount for an individual asset, recoverable 
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

j. Inventories
Inventories comprise goods for distribution and goods for resale at no or nominal consideration as part of the 
company’s charitable activities. Inventories may be purchased or received by way of donation. Inventories are carried 
at the lower of cost or net realisable value. The cost is the purchase price of the items. The inventory is made up 
of supplies purchased for members and units, consisting of uniform items, items for the vessels, promotional and 
educational materials.
Goods for resale 
No value is prescribed to goods for resale that have been donated to the company where the fair value cannot be 
reliably determined.  
The cost of bringing each item to its present location and condition is determined on a first-in, first-out basis. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs necessary to 
make the sale.

k. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation. 

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life, or in the case of leasehold 
improvements and certain leased plant and equipment, the shorter lease term, as follows:

(i) Communications equipment – over 4 years
(ii) Furniture and fittings – over 4 years
(iii) IT and office equipment – over 3 years
(iv) Motor vehicles – over 5 years
(v) Rescue vessels and rescue vessel equipment – over 5-10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting 
period. Gains and losses on disposals are calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
asset’s carrying amount and are included in profit or loss in the year that the item is derecognised.
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l. Trade and other payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at their fair value, which is the amount expected to be paid, and subsequently 
at amortised cost. These amounts represent liabilities for services provided to the company prior to the end of financial 
year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 60 days of recognition.

m. Employee benefits
Employee benefits comprise wages and salaries, annual, non-accumulating sick and long service leave and 
contributions to superannuation plans.

Liabilities for wages and salaries expected to be settled within 12 months of balance date are recognised in other 
payables in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date. Liabilities for annual leave in respect of employees’ 
services up to the reporting date which are expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in 
which the employees render the related services are recognised in the provision for annual leave.

Both liabilities are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-
accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable.

The company pays contributions to certain defined contribution superannuation plans. Contributions are recognised 
in the income statement when they are due. The company has no obligation to pay further contributions to these plans 
if the plans do not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in current and prior 
periods.
Other long-term employee benefits
The company’s liabilities for annual leave and long service leave are included in other long-term benefits as they are 
not expected to be settled wholly within twelve (12) months after the end of the period in which the employees render 
the related service. They are measured at the present value of the expected future payments to be made to employees. 

The expected future payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures and periods of service and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the 
end of the reporting period on high quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the timing 
of the estimated future cash outflows. Any re-measurements arising from experience adjustments and changes in 
assumptions are recognised in profit or loss in the periods in which the changes occur.

The company presents employee benefit obligations as current liabilities in the statement of financial position if the 
company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve (12) months after the reporting 
period, irrespective of when the actual settlement is expected to take place.

Post-employment benefits plans
The company provides post-employment benefits though defined contribution plans. 

n. Economic dependence
The company is dependent upon the ongoing receipt of State Government grants and community and corporate 
donations to ensure the ongoing continuance of its programs. At the date of this report, management has no reason to 
believe this financial support will not continue.

o. Operating leases  
All leases are treated as operating leases. Where the company is a lessee, payments on operating lease agreements 
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Associated costs, such as maintenance and 
insurance, are expensed as incurred.

p. AASB 9 Disclosures
The company has adopted AASB 9 Financial Instruments (AASB 9), which resulted in changes in accounting policies 
in respect of recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities; derecognition of 
financial instruments; impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. AASB 9 also significantly amends other 
standards dealing with financial instruments such as the revised AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (AASB 7R). 

The company applied AASB 9 retrospectively but has not restated the comparative information, which is reported 
under AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (AASB 139). Any differences arising from 
the adoption of AASB 9 have been recognised directly in accumulated funds and other components of equity. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



MARINE RESCUE NSW | ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 75

Classification and measurement of financial instruments 
On 1 July 2018 (the date of initial application of AASB 9), the company’s management has assessed which 

business models apply to the financial assets held by the company and has classified its financial instruments into the 
appropriate AASB 9 categories. 

The main effects resulting from this reclassification are as follows: 
(i) Trade receivables and other financial assets classified as ‘Loans and receivables’ under AASB 139 at 30 June 

2018 are held to collect contractual cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest.  At 1 July 2018, 
these are classified and measured as debt instruments at amortised cost.

(ii) The company has not designated any financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. There are no changes 
in the classification and measurement for the company’s financial liabilities. 
Impairment of financial assets

The company’s debt instruments carried at amortised cost (trade debtors) are subject to AASB 9’s new three-stage 
expected credit loss model. The trade debtors are considered low credit risk and therefore the impairment allowance is 
limited to 12 months’ expected credit losses. There has been no impact to the company upon initial adoption.

q. AASB 15 / AASB 1058 Transition Disclosures
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2019 
reporting periods.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 15 and AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profits

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (AASB 15) is effective for reporting periods commencing on 
or after 1 January 2019. AASB 15 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with 

Marine Rescue Terrey Hills radio operators Andrew Tory, Phil Tremble, Marguerite Mason and David Crawford employ the latest generation 
communications technology to provide a marine radio safety net for boaters in Sydney and further north and south along the coastline.
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customers. Revenue is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to the customer at amounts that 
reflect the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services 
to the customer. Under AASB 118 Revenue (AASB 118), revenue recognition is currently based on when risks and 
rewards are transferred. 

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profits (AASB 1058) is effective for reporting periods commencing on or after 1 
January 2019 and will replace most of the existing requirements in AASB 1004 Contributions (AASB 1004). Under 
AASB 1058, the company will need to determine whether a transaction is consideration received below fair value 
principally to enable the company to further its objectives (accounted for under AASB 1058) or a revenue contract with 
a customer (accounted for under AASB 15). 

The standards will result in the identification of separate performance obligations that may change the timing of 
recognition for some revenues, including revenues relating to sales of goods and services and specific purpose grants 
and subsidies.

Under AASB 1058, the company will recognise as liabilities, obligations for funding received where there is an 
obligation to construct recognisable non-financial assets controlled by the company.   

The company will adopt AASB 15 and AASB 1058 on 1 July 2019 through application of the full retrospective 
transition approach. Recognition and measurement principles of the new standards will be applied for the current year 
and comparative year as though AASB 15 and AASB 1058 had always applied.

Based on the impact assessments the company has undertaken on currently available information, the company 
estimates that the adoption of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 will not be significant.

r. AASB 16 Transition Disclosures
AASB 16 Leases (AASB 16) is effective from reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2019. 

For lessees, AASB 16 will result in most leases being recognised on the Statement of Financial Position, as the 
distinction between operating and finance leases is largely removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the right to 
use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognised at the commencement of the lease. The only 
exceptions are short-term and low-value leases. AASB 16 will, therefore, increase assets and liabilities reported on the 
Statement of Financial Position. It will also increase depreciation and interest expenses and reduce operating lease 
rental expenses on the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Expenses recognised in the earlier years of the lease 
term will be higher as the interest charges will be calculated on a larger lease liability balance. Existing finance leases 
are not expected to be significantly impacted from the transition to AASB 16. 

The company will adopt AASB 16 on 1 July 2019 through application of the partial retrospective approach, where 
only the current year is adjusted as though AASB 16 had always applied. Comparative information will not be restated. 

Based on the impact assessments the company has undertaken on currently available information, the company 
estimates additional lease liabilities and right-of-use assets will not be significant as at 1 July 2019 for leases in which 
the company is a lessee. The impact on the statement of comprehensive income is not expected to be significant.

The company does not have significant operating leases and has considered the applicability of temporary relief for 
leases that are significantly below market prices.

The AASB has granted Not-for-Profit entities the option to not apply AASB 16 to significantly below market leases. 
The company will apply this relief to all significantly below market leases to which it is a party, and will therefore not 
bring to account such leases as right of use assets.
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(a) Details of Aggregate Gross Income & Total Expenditure of        
Fundraising Appeals 

Gross proceeds from Fundraising Appeals

Donations 853,052 850,523

Market stalls, barbecues and functions 415,678 483,760

Bingo & raffles 486,487 485,917

Other fundraising 321,691 285,484

2,076,908 2,105,684

Direct costs of Fundraising Appeals

Donations - -

Market stalls, barbecues and functions 176,880 164,595

Bingo & raffles 154,707 193,266

Other fundraising 70,228 59,444

401,815 417,305

Total Direct Costs of Fundraising as a percentage of gross income 
from fundraising appeals 

19% 20%

Net Surplus from Fundraising Appeals 1,675,093 1,688,379

3. INFORMATION TO BE FURNISHED UNDER THE NSW CHARITABLE FUNDRAISING ACT 1991

The surplus of fundraising is applied in the charitable purposes of Volunteer Marine Rescue NSW, including the 
acquistion of vessels and other equipment. Fundraising Apeals include all individual fundraising activities at units and 
at Headquarters, across the company.

2019 
$

2018
$
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RESCUE-READY

MRNSW Rescue Water Craft operators like MR Lake 
Macquarie’s Peter Sun are trained as specialist first 
responders, able to provide initial assistance until a 
rescue vessel arrives on the scene of an emergency.
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 2019 
$

2018 
$

Revenue

Activities income 438,526 603,861

Donations 853,052 850,523

NSW recreational boat licence & registration levy 7,257,353 6,266,892

NSW Government core grant 1,719,463 1,683,108

Fundraising & sponsorship income 737,369 561,672

Games of chance 486,487 485,917

Grants 1,399,297 1,256,820

Sales 303,157 302,032

Interest 94,705 103,691

Net insurance proceeds received 16,772 123,081

Profit on sale of assets - 87,189

Other 97,119 118,113

13,403,300 12,442,899

Expenditure

Activities 33,063 77,119

Administration 1,029,714 993,420

Staff costs 3,381,432 3,011,445

Maintenance of assets 2,505,872 2,223,528

Loss on disposal of assets 49,123 -

Cost of sales 404,885 322,345

Depreciation 3,391,892 3,268,571

Training expenditure 192,347 132,266

Grant expenditure 86,734 357,385

Fundraising expenditure 247,108 224,039

Games of chance expenditure 154,707 193,266

Interest expense (on finance loans) 71,529 111,051

IT expenditure 355,310 282,956

Insurances 315,890 318,031

Marketing 92,675 121,521

Utilities 636,318 568,474

12,948,599 12,205,417

4. SURPLUS FROM REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES
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Trade receivables 1,077,105 710,913

Other receivables 151,075 211,518

1,228,180 922,431

Assets under construction - general             277,464            507,509

Buildings/leasehold improvements

At Cost 5,209,261 4,780,110

Less: Accumulated depreciation (723,814) (548,050)

4,485,447 4,232,060

Communications equipment

At Cost 3,626,511 2,619,346

Less: Accumulated depreciation (2,239,267) (1,796,144)

1,387,244 823,202

Furniture, fixtures & fittings

At Cost 540,049 499,702

Less: Accumulated depreciation (479,189) (445,254)

60,860 54,448 

IT, office, plant & equipment

At Cost 1,396,243 1280,652

Less: Accumulated depreciation (1,219,595) (1,107,800)

176,648 172,852

5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2019 
$

2018
$

Motor vehicles

At Cost 1,472,566 1,073,159

Less: Accumulated depreciation (781,270) (653,760)

691,296 419,399

6. INVENTORIES

Stock on hand - uniforms 355,752 347,414

Stock on hand - ratings & ranks 10,789 13,570

Stock on hand - unit items/equipment 99,398 86,578

465,939 447,562
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Rescue vessels

At Cost 22,837,756 20,777,541

Under construction 45,455 540,461

Less: Accumulated depreciation (11,306,864) (9,675,702)

11,576,346 11,642,300

Rescue vessel equipment

At Cost 1,917,425 1,605,279

Less: Accumulated depreciation (870,057) (661,632)

1,047,368 943,647

Total property, plant and equipment 19,702,673 18,795,417

Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the 
current and previous financial year are set out below:

Assets under construction

Additions at cost 277,464 507,509

Buildings/leasehold improvements 

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 4,232,060 3,961,476

Additions at cost 429,151 435,426

Depreciation (175,764) (164,842)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 4,485,447 4,232,060

Communications equipment

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 823,202 1,005,774

Additions at cost 1,007,165 261,267

Depreciation (443,123) (443,839)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 1,387,244 823,202

2019 
$

2018
$

Furniture, fixtures & fittings

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 54,448 75,864

Additions at cost 40,347 17,321

Disposals - (524)

Depreciation (33,935) (38,213)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 60,860 54,448
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Rescue vessels

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 11,642,300 13,001,675

Transfers to rescue vessel equipment - (23,636)

Additions at cost 2,968,418 839,154

Assets under construction (495,006) 147,456

Disposals (293,620) (143,638)

Depreciation (2,245,746) (2,178,711)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 11,576,346 11,642,300

IT, office, plant & equipment

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 172,852 180,288

Additions at cost 118,497 105,686

Disposals (2,526) -

Depreciation (112,175) (113,122)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 176,648 172,852

Motor vehicles

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 419,399 437,852

Additions at cost 442,386 157,834

Disposals (6,297) (16,623)

Depreciation (164,192) (159,664)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 691,296 419,399

Rescue vessel equipment

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 943,647 914,143

Transfers from rescue vessels - 23,636

Additions at cost 339,745 180,947

Disposals (19,068) (4,899)

Depreciation (216,956) (170,180)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 1,047,368 943,647

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 19,702,673 18,795,417

2019 
$

2018
$
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9. BORROWINGS       

a) Current

Government loan 8,000 140,000

Bank loan (Westpac Equipment Financing Facility) - secured 497,768 811,367

505,768 951,367

b) Non-current

Bank loan (Westpac Equipment Financing Facility) - secured 844,597 852,720

844,597 852,720

The bank loans are secured against certain vessels within the fleet.

8. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables 1,521,936 1,119,872

Bank overdraft - secured 279,928               -

1,801,864 1,119,872

The average period for payment of creditors is 14 days. 
No interest is charged on the outstanding. 
The bank overdraft is secured against cash and cash equivalents.

10. PROVISIONS      

a) Current

Annual leave 439,163 473,230

439,163 473,230

b) Non-current

Long service leave 217,505 126,031

217,505 126,031

2019 
$

2018
$
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12. MEMBERS’ LIABILITIES AND NUMBERS
The liability of the Members is limited. Every Regular and Provisional Member of the company undertakes to contribute 
to the assets of the company, in the event of the same being wound up while s/he is a Member, or within one year 
after s/he ceases to be a Member, for payment of the debts and the liabilities of the company (contracted before s/he 
ceases to be a Member) and of the costs, charges and expenses of winding up and for the adjustment of the rights of 
the contributors among themselves, such amount as may be required not exceeding two dollars ($2.00). 
The numbers of Members were:
Regular Members 2,441
Provisional 522
Other       42
Total 3,005

2019 
$

2018 
$

The compensation paid to the key management personnel noted above is: 1,222,758 1,075,534

11. RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Directors act in an honorary capacity and receive no compensation for their services. Directors may receive 
reimbursement for expenses incurred in fulfilling their roles. 
The Directors also are members of units and participate in unit activities.

Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel are those with authority for planning, directing and controlling the company’s activities, 
directly or indirectly, including Board members, the Commissioner, Deputy Commissioner, Chief Financial Officer, 
Corporate Services Director and IT and Business Development Director. 

Marine Rescue Point Danger members with Board Directors Bob Wilson and Ken Edwards and Commissioner Stacey Tannos at the handover 
of the new MRNSW Mobile Incident Command Vehicle. Photo: Brendan Trembath.
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14. LEASES AND LICENCES (Operating leases as leases)
The organisation’s future minimum operating lease and licence payments are as follows:

Lease and licence expenses during the period amount to $308,990, representing the minimum lease and licence 
payments.  

13. CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in 
money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.  Cash 
and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the 
statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement 
of financial position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 7,737,802 8,228,806

(b)  Reconciliation of surplus for the year to net cash flows from 
operating activities

Net (deficit)/surplus for the year 454,701 237,482

Net insurance proceeds - -

Interest income received & receivable (94,705) (103,691)

Depreciation charged 3,391,891 3,268,571

(Profit)/loss on disposal of assets 49,123 (87,189)

Interest on finance leases 71,529 111,051

Changes in net assets and liabilities

Movement in receivables (305,749) 424,999

Movement in inventories (18,377) 19,893

Movement in provisions 57,407 26,596

Movement in payables 681,992 (64,807)

Movement in other liabilities               -               -

Net cash from operating activities 4,287,812 3,832,905

15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On 31 August 2019, the company entered into a four-year Funding Deed of Agreement with the Office of              
Emergency Management, NSW Department of Communities and Justice. The agreement, effecive from 1 July 2019, 
details the significant increase in State Government funding for the company over the four-year period and the guide-
lines for its expenditure and acquittal.

Minimum lease and licence  
payments due

Within 1 year 
$

1 to 5 years 
$

After 5 years 
$

Total 
$

30 June 2019 192,172 207,325 66,857 466,354

2019 
$

2018
$
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17. REGISTERED OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACES OF BUSINESS
The Registered Office of the company is:

 Volunteer Marine Rescue NSW (Trading as Marine Rescue NSW)
 Building 1, 202 Nicholson Parade, Cronulla  NSW 2230
 Phone:  02 8071 4848 
 Web: marinerescuensw.com.au
 Email: admin@marinerescuensw.com.au

The Principal Places of Business are located at the following Marine Rescue NSW bases (from north to south):

1 Point Danger 16 Port Stephens 31 Shellharbour

2 Brunswick 17 Lemon Tree Passage 32 Shoalhaven

3 Cape Byron 18 Newcastle 33 Jervis Bay

4 Ballina 19 Lake Macquarie 34 Sussex Inlet

5 Evans Head 20 Norah Head 35 Ulladulla

6 Iluka Yamba 21 Tuggerah Lakes 36 Kioloa

7 Wooli 22 Central Coast 37 Batemans Bay

8 Woolgoolga 23 Hawkesbury 38 Tuross

9 Coffs Harbour 24 Cottage Point 39 Narooma

10 Nambucca 25 Broken Bay 40 Bermagui

11 Trial Bay 26 Terrey Hills 41 Merimbula

12 Port Macquarie 27 Middle Harbour 42 Eden

13 Camden Haven 28 Port Jackson 43 Alpine Lakes

14 Crowdy Harrington 29 Botany Port Hacking 44 Moama

15 Forster-Tuncurry 30 Port Kembla

16. EXPENDITURE OF CORE NSW GOVERNMENT GRANT & BOAT LICENCE & REGISTRATION LEVY
Marine Rescue NSW has in recent years reported on its investment of the annual funding received from the State 
Government via a direct Government grant and the levy on recreational boat licences and registrations in its submission 
to the NSW State Rescue Board Annual Report. This submission has excluded funding from other sources such as 
fundraising and other grants and expenditure that relates to unit operations. This reporting format is no longer required 
by the State Rescue Board but for optimal transparency and accountability, this expenditure is specifically outlined in 
this report at Appendix A (Page 87). The report on the acquittal of funding provided in Appendix A is prepared on a cash 
basis, which may vary from the final audited reports, which are prepared on an accrual basis.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Expenditure of NSW Government 
grant & boating registration & licence levy     

$ $

Total funding made available: 8,666,549

Represented by:

NSW recreational boat registration & licence levy 6,947,086*

NSW Government core grant 1,719,463

Amount expended by Marine Rescue NSW

Indirect Unit funding 41,358

Direct Unit funding 922,500

Funding Advance repayment 132,000

Administration  636,771

Staff costs 3,263,991

Activities expenses 24,780

Buildings 135,289

Uniforms and stores costs 295,773

Training 127,654

IT 278,422

Insurance 314,270

Marketing 70,455

Motor vehicles 265,378

Radio facilities 288,436

Rescue vessel R&M 37,808

Trailers 10,246

Utilities 472,960

Subtotal 7,318,091

New vessels 2,181,832

Other vessel expenditure -

Other capital expenditure 588,140

Total capital expenditure 2,769,972

Unit contributions, leasing facility & other funds (1,421,514)

Total Expenditure 8,666,549

* Eleven monthly NSW recreational boat registration and licence levy payments were received in 2018-19. 

APPENDIX A
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Expenditure of NSW Government 
grant & boating registration & licence levy 
 
New vessels (note)

$

7.8m Sailfish, Lake Macquarie unit 347,248

7.5m Naiad, Port Jackson unit 328,013

7.5m Naiad, Central Coast unit 323,898

10m Naiad, Central Coast unit (part) 300,925

6.8m Naiad, Crowdy Harrington unit 290,415

6.8m Ocean Cylinder, Forster-Tuncurry unit (part) 224,073

5.5m Ocean Cylinder, Iluka Yamba unit (part) 134,774

4.6m Ocean Cylinder, Moama unit 120,719

4.8m Naiad open cabin, Tuross unit (part) 106,055

6.8m Ocean Cylinder, Norah Head unit (part) 5,712

Subtotal 2,181,832

Other capital expenditure

Buildings/leasehold improvements 78,466

IT equipment 32,806

Communication equipment 172,592

Rescue vessel equipment 35,281

Motor vehicles & trailers 268,995

Subtotal 588,140

Total 2,769,972

Note: Funding allocations against new vessels represent the amount paid during the financial year and may not reflect 
the total cost of the vessel. 

APPENDIX A
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MARINE RESCUE NSW
Volunteers saving lives on the water

Volunteer Marine Rescue New South Wales
ABN 98 138 078 092

PO Box 579, Cronulla NSW 2230
Phone: 02 8071 4848 | Fax: 02 9969 5214

Web: marinerescuensw.com.au
Email: admin@marinerescuensw.com.au




